Board of Directors
April 28, 2022
4:00 p.m. – 5:45 p.m.
MEETING AGENDA
Please click the link below to join the webinar:
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84293032580?pwd=YUc3S2pjRXlvU3VEbnZIWVJjaFFKQT09
Passcode: 643498 | Webinar ID: 842 9303 2580
Phone: (646) 558-8656| Telephone participants: *9 to raise hand, *6 to unmute

AGENDA ITEM

PRESENTER

1. Call Meeting to Order (4:00)

Hope Cahan,
Board President

2. Public Comment (4:00-4:05)
Hope Cahan,
The METRO Board of Directors welcomes public comment for Committee Chair
items not listed on this agenda at this time. For items listed on
the agenda, the chair will allow members of the public to
comment following the staff presentation. There is a threeminute time limit per speaker at each point. (Comments will
be paraphrased in the meeting minutes)
3. Approval of Meeting Minutes (4:05-4:10)
Review and approve the minutes from the March 24, 2022
meeting of the Board of Directors.

Hope Cahan,
Board President

4. Executive Director’s Report (4:10-4:30)
The Executive Director will provide an update on major
topics, projects and initiatives.

Greg Jordan,
Executive Director

ACTION or
INFORMATION
N/A
Information

ACTION

Information

5. 2021 Financial Audit (4:30-4:45)
Shelly Brooks,
Staff will provide a summary review of the results of the 2021 Finance Director
Financial Audit.

Information

6. Financial Reserve Policy (4:45-5:00)
Shelly Brooks
Staff will present the revised Financial Reserve Policy for the Finance Director
committee’s approval.

ACTION

7. Sub-Lease Terms with Altantic Hardwood (5:00-5:30)
Greg Jordan,
The Executive Director will present the tentativel approved Executive Director
Letter of Intent which covers the key business terms of an
agreement with Atlantic Hardwood to sub-lease the space at
151 St. John’s Street. The board is asked to authorize the
Executive Director to finalize and execute a final sub-lease
agreement with Atlantic Hardwood.
8. Future Agenda Items (5:30-5:45)
• Comprehensive Review of Board Policies (2022)
• Cost-Revenue Allocation Policies-Procedures (2022)
• Metro Strategic Planning Effort (2022-2023)
9. Upcoming Meetings (5:30-5:45)
•
•
•

Executive Committee – May 11, 2022 at 3:30 p.m.
Ridership Committee – May 19, 2022 at 4:00 p.m.
Board of Directors – May 26, 2022 at 4:00 p.m.

9. Adjournment (5:45)

ACTION

Hope Cahan,
Board President

Information

Hope Cahan,
Board President

Information

Hope Cahan,
Board President

N/A
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AGENDA – Item 3

Board of Directors – Remote Meeting
Draft Minutes of the Greater Portland Transit District’s Board of Directors Meeting on
March 24, 2022 at 4:00 p.m. via Zoom
Please click the link below to join the webinar:
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84293032580?pwd=YUc3S2pjRXlvU3VEbnZIWVJjaFFKQT09
Passcode: 643498 | Webinar ID: 842 9303 2580
Phone: (646) 558-8656| Telephone participants: *9 to raise hand, *6 to unmute
Board Members Present:
Hope Cahan, Board President
Mike Foley, Vice President
Paul Bradbury
Pious Ali
John Thompson
Merrill Barter
Nat Tupper- Secretary
Jeff Levine
Ryan Leighton
Ashley Rand
Bill Rixon
Paul Bradbury

Staff and Others Present:
Greg Jordan, Executive Director
Glenn Fenton, Chief Transportation Officer
Shelly Brooks, Finance Director
Danielle Nemeth, Human Resources Director
Mike Tremblay, Transit Development Director
Lauren Shaw, Executive Assistant
Chris Chop, GPCOG
Ericka Amador, GPCOG
Erin Courtney, MTA, Public Outreach & Legislative
Liaison
Peter Mills, Executive Director, MTA
Paul Godfrey, HNTB

Board Members Absent:
Andrew Zarro
Ed Suslovic

Public:
Barry Salter
Catherine Culley
John Clark
Paul Godfrey
Craig Bramley
Winston Lumpkins, IV

Cashel Stewart
Eamonn Dundon
Lucas Bloom
Angela King
Derek Pelletier, Portland

Attendance roll call was taken by Lauren Shaw, Executive Assistant.
1. With a quorum in place, the meeting was called to order at 4:03 p.m. by Hope Cahan, Board
President.
2. Public Comment
No members of the public chose to speak at this time.
3. Meeting Minutes from February 24, 2022
John Thompson moved, seconded by Pious Ali, to approve the minutes of the February 24, 2022
Board of Directors meeting as presented. A roll call vote was taken by Lauren Shaw, Executive
Assistant. With approval by Mike Foley, Paul Bradbury, Nat Tupper, Ryan Leighton, Ashley Rand,
Bill Rixon, Pious Ali, Jeff Levine, John Thompson, Merrill Barter, and Hope Cahan, the motion passed
unanimously by all those present.
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4. Executive Director’s Report
• Will be temporarily reducing service on the Breez and Route 1 due to staffing shortages (a large
number of Bus Operators out on leave). During this time, the fare on the Breez will be reduced
to $2 regular fare/$1 reduced fare to increase ridership while reductions are in effect.
• Electric Buses – Still expect delivery by April and will announce a launch event soon thereafter.
• Received $1.9 m in grant funding to purchase eleven 35’ diesel buses in the next year. Some will
be used for the Breez route with Breez branding redesigned to match Metro’s new look.
• PACTS - a balance of funding was agreed upon, including open funding for CBL and NNEPRA due
to anticipated long-term fare revenue losses. In a close vote, all of Metro’s projects were
approved. Other transit agencies want to retain more funding for long-term needs.
5. Title VI Program Updated 2022
Mike Tremblay reviewed the background of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act and summarized the 2022
Metro Title VI program updates (Item 5 – Attachment A), as required every three years by the
Federal Transit Administration (FTA). This update must be approved by the Board of Directors prior
to the April 30, 2022 submission due date. The full requirements of this submission were discussed
in Metro’s January 2022 Ridership Committee meeting, a draft presented to the Ridership
Committee in February 2022, and recommended for approval by the Ridership Committee on
March 17, 2022. A public information meeting was held on March 8, 2022, which was recorded and
has been posted on Metro’s website.
John Thompson moved, seconded by Jeff Levine, to approve Metro’s proposed 2022 Title VI
Program, as corrected to ensure all acronyms are clearly defined and the document is reviewed for
typographical errors before submission. A roll call vote was taken by Lauren Shaw, Executive
Assistant. With approval by Mike Foley, Paul Bradbury, Nat Tupper, Ryan Leighton, Ashley Rand,
Bill Rixon, Pious Ali, Jeff Levine, John Thompson, Merrill Barter, and Hope Cahan, the motion passed
unanimously by all those present.
6. GPCOG/PACTS Presentation on Current Transit Studies (slides in Board packet)
GPCOG houses the Federally-designated Metropolitan Plan Organization (MPO), PACTS, that
coordinates transportation planning and investment decisions with the state, municipalities, and
public transportation partners. PACTS role in regional transit funding is to allocate funding, plan for
the future, and implement plans.
Connect 2045, the federally-required Long-Range Transportation Plan (LRTP) across the PACTS
region, is updated every 4-5 years. The plan studies: where we are now; where are we going; and
how do we get there. Information comes from public engagement, previous plans, state goals, and
federal requirements. Timeline: launch (summer 2021), create vision (summer/fall 2021), identify
strategies (winter/spring 2022), and plan adoption (summer/fall 2022). Transit Together is part of
this plan, paid for with CARES Act funding, but it also aligns with the plan for Administrative
Efficiencies and Regional Network Design, which looks at how we can come together and save
money as a group (7 transit providers in our region), and how we can leverage federal funding. Visit
Transittogether.org. In preparation to study Rapid Transit, GPCOG has spoken to many transit
agencies around the country to see what their journeys have been like.
Public comment: Lucas Bloom shared his appreciation for the presentation.
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7. Gorham Connector Project MTA (Maine Turnpike Authority) and MeDOT
Peter Mills, MTA reviewed the background of the Gorham Connector (in packet), studies of which
extend back to the 1980s. In 2008, these studies culminated in the construction of the Gorham
bypass, connecting Route 25 west of Gorham to Route 114 south of Gorham. The purpose of the
Gorham bypass was to improve east-west traffic congestion on Route 25 through Gorham Village
and to reduce downtown through-traffic in Gorham Village. Although the bypass was successful in
taking some of the east-west traffic out of downtown, the bypass did not reduce excessive
commuter traffic on Routes 114 and 22 in South Gorham and North Scarborough.
The communities of Gorham, Scarborough, South Portland, and Westbrook signed a joint resolution
in 2007 requesting that the MTA conduct a study to assess the feasibility of a new Turnpike
connector that would link the Gorham Bypass with the Maine Turnpike. This resulted in a resolution
by the 123rd Maine State Legislature in 2007 (LD 1720) directing the MTA and MeDOT to study
highway connections between western Cumberland County and the Maine Turnpike, with a goal of
decreasing congestion on area state and local roads. The Gorham East-West Corridor Study,
completed in 2012, complied with Maine’s Sensible Transportation Policy Act (STPA) by requiring a
full evaluation of all reasonable transportation alternatives and found three things were needed to
maximize transportation efficiency in the region:
• a significant increase in transit ridership and bus routes
• a concerted effort by municipalities to create pockets of housing and commercial density
that could cost-effectively use transit, and
• an increase in road capacity. Greater Portland’s role as southern Maine’s economic driver,
as well as the area’s proximity to Boston, indicated that the region would continue to
experience strong growth in the future.
The Husky Line launched in 2018, just north of the study area, connecting the USM campuses and
reaching out to the Hamlet. A bus route on County Road is not currently an option because of the
extreme congestion during commuter hours. Also, larger, multi-unit developments are going up in
the area, rather than single-family homes and the possible development of a 4-lane road (limited
highway) from the west of Portland to Exit 45, to relieve the traffic on many routes and roads, is
being studied, as well as transit options. There is pressure on housing to develop multi-family units
and those utilizing this housing are very reliant on automobiles. The congestion problem needs to
be addressed, or solved, first, and then transit planning can be brought in to mitigate this
congestion. South Portland, Westbrook, Scarborough, and Gorham are party of this study.
The route being proposed would go through the old Gorham Country Club to the western edge of
the Smiling Hill Farm property, and north of Running Hill Road (a highway would be more
appropriate next to Eco Maine (landfill) than housing). MTA has spent $140m re-doing Exit 45.
Traffic should be on the interstate – not on smaller roads. They are working closely with the towns
and Metro on this project. The highway is a device to be used to enable land-planning on a larger
scale. Results of the traffic and revenue study determined that the Gorham Connector was
financially feasible over a 30-year bond period. The project cost is approximately $217 million with
an initial toll rate of $1.50.
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Paul Godfrey, HNTB – These four towns and the legislature have taken the findings from the 2012
study and used them towards an Alternative Analysis, which identifies a new Gorham Connector as
the preferred solution. The new connection will reduce vehicle emission, create synergy with
transit, bicycle and pedestrian modes, and reduce peak hour traffic on roads not designed to handle
it. The Public Engagement Process began in fall 2021. An Advisory Committee, Technical Working
Groups, and public meetings will begin later in 2022. MTA and HNTB would like Metro to participate
in the Advisory and Technical Working groups. Currently:
• USACE will determine if a new roadway can be permitted
• No final decisions have been made on the location of a new connector
• Communities, stakeholders, and the public will be engaged, as described above
• MTA has begun the process of identifying and purchasing property as is possible to preserve
a corridor should a new Gorham connector move forward
Public comment:
Derek Pelletier: How does this prevent it from happening again in the future? Are there
examples to show that this has solved problems in the long-term?
Craig Bramley, Portland: Metro is in an awkward position; whether the project goes
forward is not up to Metro. This is a distraction from transit and what should be
accomplished in the area. This has been discussed for 25 years. Building highways impacts
our footprint – giving more vehicle easy access to Portland will affect Portland. He is an
opponent of the project.
Winston Lumpkins, Berlin, ME: Urged the board not to support the Gorham Connector
as it would only relieve traffic for a few years and will bring more traffic to Portland and
Gorham. Traffic can only be reduced by people using transit rather than cars. If people
can get somewhere faster by transit than by car, they will use it. Use available technology
to make transit a faster option. MTA is not a viable, sustainable option.
Angela King: Agrees that Chris Chop’s presentation is the future. It is not just the cars,
but the roads they drive on, that affects the environment. Focus on the future and
climate, which is GPCOG’s rapid transit study.
John Clark, Valley St., Portland: Opposes the connector. Urges Metro not to support it.
It is the opposite of GPCOG’s work. There is not ample consideration about the congestion
it will create on the Portland end of the corridor. Demand will increase with a more
useable route, affecting Portland’s bicycle and pedestrian population.
Consider the impact to Portland. Are there alternative modes that have been studied
recently in that area?
• Alternative modes are being worked on and will be shared when complete.
• Maine has a sensible transportation policy act, put in place around the initial
thoughts of the MTA widening. The 2012 study determined that no one thing will
solve the problem and that is why all three options are being looked at.
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How does the Gorham Connector project interrelate with the rapid transit study going
forward?
• Paul Godfrey: The opportunity here is how these two projects can work together.
• Can the Gorham Connector be an option for the GPCOG study to improve transit
to the area? Chris Chop: hopes that rapid transit would alleviate the need for a
new connector road, but that won’t be determined until the study is complete.
When the 2012 MTA study was done, rapid transit was in its infancy. Revaluate
rapid transit in that area and determine whether it will be enough to alleviate the
congestion. If the two projects don’t work together, could it actually reduce transit
ridership?
Mike Foley: Metro has no say in this project, but the projects need to work together. Westbrook
is the most impacted community with traffic congestion and will significantly benefit if the
connector is built, but is also a strong transit and rapid transit supporter.
Paul Bradbury: If this project moves forward, it increases the opportunity for more housing
development.
With COVID, Maine has seen a population influx from states whose resident have higher purchasing
power than Maine residents, driving up home/housing prices and forcing much of the population
to look for housing west of Portland, where it has typically been cheaper to live.
Peter Mills: The connector is a 5.5 mile road from the rotary in Gorham to Exit 45. They are working
with the Army Corps of Engineers on the Environmental Impact (EA) statement and open
discussions are being held with many organizations. When MTA is satisfied with the alignment and
layout of this proposal, it will be opened up to public engagement, which will run through the
summer. There is still have a lot of work to do, but early outreach to organizations that may be
involved or related to this project has been undertaken.
8. Future Agenda Items – None added at this time
• Comprehensive Review of Board Policies (2022)
• Cost-Revenue Allocation Policies-Procedures (2022)
• Metro Strategic Planning Effort (2022-2023)
9. Upcoming meetings
• Board of Directors – April 28, 2022 at 4:00 p.m.
• Finance Committee – April 6, 2022 at 4:00 p.m.
• Executive Committee – April 13, 2022 at 3:30 p.m.
• Ridership Committee – April 21, 2022 at 4:00 p.m.
10. Adjournment
John Thompson moved, seconded by Jeff Levine, to adjourn. A roll call vote was taken by Lauren
Shaw, Executive Assistant. With approval by Paul Bradbury, Ashley Rand, Pious Ali, Jeff Levine, John
Thompson, Merrill Barter, and Hope Cahan, the motion passed unanimously by all those present
and the meeting adjourned at 6:48 p.m.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

AGENDA ITEM 5

DATE
April 27, 2022
SUBJECT
2021 Financial Audit
PURPOSE
Review and accept the 2021 financial audit as completed by RKO.
BACKGROUND/ANALYSIS
Metro Finance Committee acts as the Board’s Audit Committee, and, as such, receives the annual
audit. A copy of the power point presentation from RKO is attached for information.
FISCAL IMPACT
None
RECOMMENDATION
N/A
CONTACT
Shelly Brooks
Finance Director
207-423-5052
sbrooks@gpmetro.org
ATTACHMENTS:
Attachment A – Copy of Audit Presentation
Attachment B - 2021 Statement of Auditing Standards (SAS)
Attachment C – 2021 Financial Statements
Attachment D - 2021 Uniform Guidance Report
Attachment E - 2021 MAAP Report

Item 5 - Attachment A

GREATER PORTLAND TRANSIT DISTRICT
FINANCIAL OVERVIEW
Presented by: Casey Leonard
RUNYON KERSTEEN OUELLETTE

INSIDE
2. Summary of Audit Results
3. Net Position – FY 2018 - 2021
4. 2021 Revenues - Budget and Actual
5-6. 2021 Expenses - Budget and Actual
7. Revenue Distribution - FY 2018 - 2021
8. Expense Distribution Comparative

About this presentation
This presentation is intended as a tool to assist the Board of Directors and management in understanding its
financial operating results. The information contained in this publication should be read in conjunction with
the audited financial statements and related disclosures and should not be used for any other purposes
without the expressed consent of RUNYON KERSTEEN OUELLETTE.
Please contact us at 207-773-2986 or 1-800-486-1784
20 Long Creek Drive, South Portland, ME 04106

GREATER PORTLAND TRANSIT DISTRICT
SUMMARY OF AUDIT RESULTS
• Financial Statement Opinion – Unmodified
• Report Required by Government Auditing Standards (GAS)
– No Material Weaknesses
– No Significant Deficiencies

• Report Required by the Uniform Guidance
• Programs Tested:
– Federal Transit Cluster

• Findings:
– None

• Report Required by the Maine Uniform Accounting and
Auditing Practices for Community Agencies
• Reviewed SEDA only, no report modifications
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GREATER PORTLAND TRANSIT DISTRICT
Net Position FY – 2018 - 2021
18,000,000
16,000,000
14,000,000
12,000,000
10,000,000
8,000,000
6,000,000
4,000,000
2,000,000
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted
Unrestricted - board policy
Unrestricted - unreserved

2021

2020

2019

2018

$13,450,602
349,371
900,000
791,949

$14,138,902
212,759
704,925
826,542

$12,165,739
299,247
400,140
421,471

$10,909,611
213,798
400,140
459,386
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GREATER PORTLAND TRANSIT DISTRICT
2021 REVENUES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL
Budget

Actual

Over
(Under)

Passenger fares

$2,067,002

1,385,127

(681,875)

Federal assistance

6,225,113

6,338,657

113,544

State assistance

170,426

207,926

37,500

Local investment

4,033,843

4,031,099

(2,744)

Miscellaneous Income

282,758

296,588

13,830

Total budged revenues

12,779,142

12,259,397

(519,745)

Unbudgeted federal and state capital
grants

-

1,071,342

1,071,342

Unbudgeted federal and state
operating grants

-

816,570

816,570

Wellness grant

-

3,014

3,014

Insurance proceeds

-

14,807

14,807

$12,779,142

14,165,130

1,385,988

Total budgeted and unbudgeted
revenues

• Passenger fares were under
budget due to COVID19.
Although ridership has been
increasing, recovery has been
slower than expected.
• Federal assistance was over
budget due to greater-thanexpected CARES Act funding.
Federal operating assistance
was lower-than-expected as
CARES acts funding resulted
is less eligible costs.
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GREATER PORTLAND TRANSIT DISTRICT
2021 EXPENSES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL
Budget

Actual

Under
(Over)

$9,241,120

8,944,953

296,167

Temporary help

-

21,810

(21,810)

ADA paratransit

450,000

350,479

99,521

Fuel

627,850

538,830

89,020

Dues and subscriptions

35,571

36,774

(1,203)

Other employee costs

34,165

25,286

8,879

Fleet parts and services

396,400

359,613

36,787

Insurance

322,829

325,138

(2,309)

Advertising

80,500

33,105

47,395

Office supplies

24,430

23,626

804

Contracted services

349,230

306,565

42,665

Utilities and telephone

397,993

299,561

98,432

Maintenance costs

326,060

247,794

78,266

Bank and credit card fees

44,205

19,645

24,560

Capital match

106,649

106,649

-

Debt service principal

182,500

182,500

-

Debt service interest

114,640

48,994

65,646

Fund balance restoration

45,000

-

45,000

$12,779,142

11,871,322

907,820

Personnel

Total expenses budgetary basis

• Personnel expenses were under
budget due to employee
vacancies.
• ADA paratransit expenses were
under budget due to COVID19.
Although ridership has been
increasing, recovery has been
slower than expected.
• Fuel costs were under budget as
the contacted per gallon cost of
diesel significantly decreased
beginning September 2021.

• Utilities and telephone expenses
were under budget due to mild
winter temperatures and
administrative staff working from
home.
• Maintenance costs were under
budget as older fleet replacements
produced less repair costs.
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GREATER PORTLAND TRANSIT DISTRICT
2021 EXPENSES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL, CONTINUED

Unbudgeted capital maintenance

Budget

Actual

Increase
(Decrease)

$ -

5,030

(5,030)

Unbudgeted contracted services

-

871,196

(871,196)

Unbudgeted other expenses

-

76,693

(76,693)

Depreciation expense

-

1,920,972

(1,920,972)

GAAP adjustments to expense

-

(188,877)

188,877

14,556,336

(1,777,194)

Total expenses GAAP basis

$12,779,142

• Unbudgeted capital maintenance,
contracted services and other
expenses primarily represents the
costs for items that were not
recognized as a capital asset
addition.
• GAAP adjustments to expense
represents differences between the
GAAP basis and budgetary basis
treatment of principle payments on
long-term debt, the change in
OPEB, internal capital matches, and
gain on disposal.
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GREATER PORTLAND TRANSIT DISTRICT
REVENUE DISTRIBUTION - FY 2018 - 2021
80.00%
70.00%
60.00%
50.00%
40.00%

30.00%
20.00%
10.00%
0.00%

Fare revenues

Municipal contributions

Federal and State grants

2021

9.79%

28.45%

59.61%

2020

4.64%

23.48%

69.12%

2019

16.68%

27.43%

52.05%

2018

13.37%

23.99%

60.30%
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GREATER PORTLAND TRANSIT DISTRICT
Expense Distribution Comparative
2021

2020

Personnel

75.35%

74.48%

Temporary help

0.18%

0.00%

ADA paratransit

2.95%

2.49%

Fuel

4.54%

4.56%

Dues and subscriptions

0.31%

0.31%

Other employee costs

0.21%

0.20%

Fleet parts and services

3.03%

3.39%

Insurance

2.74%

2.57%

Advertising

0.28%

0.40%

Office supplies

0.20%

0.20%

Contracted services

2.58%

2.01%

Utilities and telephone

2.52%

2.58%

Maintenance costs

2.09%

2.15%

Bank and credit card fees

0.17%

0.10%

Capital match

0.90%

0.22%

Debt service

1.95%

4.34%

8

Item 5 - Attachment B

Certified Public Accountants and Business Consultants

April 21, 2022
To the Board of Directors of the
Greater Portland Transit District
We have audited the financial statements of the Greater Portland Transit District for the year ended
December 31, 2021. Professional standards require that we provide you with information about our
responsibilities under generally accepted auditing standards, Government Auditing Standards, and the
Uniform Guidance, as well as certain information related to the planned scope and timing of our audit.
We have communicated such information in our meeting with a Finance Committee member on
February 3, 2022. Professional standards also require that we communicate to you the following
information related to our audit.
Our Responsibilities under U.S. Generally Accepted Auditing Standards, Government Auditing Standards,
and the Uniform Guidance
As stated in our engagement letter dated January 10, 2022, our responsibility, as described by
professional standards, is to express an opinion about whether the financial statements prepared by
management with your oversight are fairly presented, in all material respects, in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles. Our audit of the financial statements does not relieve you or
management of your responsibilities.
In planning and performing our audit, we considered the Greater Portland Transit District’s internal
control over financial reporting in order to determine our auditing procedures for the purpose of
expressing our opinion on the financial statements and not to provide assurance on the internal control
over financial reporting. We also considered internal control over compliance with requirements that
could have a direct and material effect on a major federal program in order to determine our auditing
procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on compliance and to test and report on internal
control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance.
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Greater Portland Transit District’s financial
statements are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grants. However, providing an opinion on compliance with
those provisions was not an objective of our audit. Also, in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, we
examined, on a test basis, evidence about the Greater Portland Transit District’s compliance with the
types of compliance requirements described in the U.S. Office of Management and Budget (OMB)
Compliance Supplement applicable to each of its major federal programs for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the Greater Portland Transit District’s compliance with those requirements. While our
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion, it does not provide a legal determination on the
Greater Portland Transit District’s compliance with those requirements.

Board of Directors
Page 2
Significant Audit Matters
Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices
Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The significant
accounting policies used by the Greater Portland Transit District are described in the notes to the
financial statements. No new accounting policies were adopted and the application of existing policies
was not changed in 2021. We noted no transactions entered into by the Greater Portland Transit District
during the year for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus. All significant
transactions have been recognized in the financial statements in the proper period.
Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are
based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions
about future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance
to the financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ
significantly from those expected. The most sensitive estimates affecting the financial statements were
management’s estimate of depreciation expense, which is based on estimated useful lives of assets and
management’s estimate of its other postemployment benefit liability, which is based on actuarial
reports. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop these estimates, in determining
that they are reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole.
Certain financial statement disclosures are particularly sensitive because of their significance to financial
statement users. The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear.
Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit
We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing
our audit.
Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements
Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during
the audit other than those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of
management. Management has corrected all such misstatements. See attached Adjusting Journal
Entries.
Disagreements with Management
For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, reporting, or
auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the financial
statements or the auditor’s report. We are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose during
the course of our audit.

Board of Directors
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Management Representations
We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management
representation letter dated April 21, 2022. See the attached copy of the representation letter, which
was signed by management.
Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants
In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and
accounting matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations. If a consultation
involves application of an accounting principle to the Greater Portland Transit District’s financial
statements or a determination of the type of auditor’s opinion that may be expressed on those
statements, our professional standards require the consulting accountant to check with us to determine
that the consultant has all the relevant facts. To our knowledge, there were no such consultations with
other accountants.
Other Audit Findings or Issues
We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing
standards, with management each year prior to retention as the Greater Portland Transit District’s
auditors. However, these discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and
our responses were not a condition to our retention.
Other Matters
We applied certain limited procedures to the management’s discussion and analysis and the Schedule of
Changes in the District’s Total Health Plan OPEB Liability and Related Ratios, which are required
supplementary information (RSI) that supplements the basic financial statements. Our procedures
consisted of inquiries of management regarding the methods of preparing the information and
comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial
statements. We did not audit the RSI and do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the
RSI.
We were engaged to report on the Schedule of Revenues and Expenses – Budget and Actual, which
accompanies the financial statements but is not RSI. With respect to this supplementary information, we
made certain inquiries of management and evaluated the form, content, and methods of preparing the
information to determine that the information complies with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America, the method of preparing it has not changed from the prior period, and the
information is appropriate and complete in relation to our audit of the financial statements. We
compared and reconciled the supplementary information to the underlying accounting records used to
prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves.
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Restriction on Use
This information is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of Directors and
management of the Greater Portland Transit District and is not intended to be, and should not be, used
by anyone other than these specified parties.
Very truly yours,

Greater Portland Transit District
Adjusting Journal Entries
12/31/2021
Account

Description

Debit

Credit

001
To reduce accrued A/P to actual as of 12/30/21.
1-1000-211999
Accrued Accounts Payable
1-14004300-502106
Technology Services
Total

33,648.75
0.00
33,648.75

0.00
33,648.75
33,648.75

002
To correctly post ICMA disbursements as of 12/30/21.
1-1000-211000
Accounts Payable
9-9999-210001
Due To/Due From Fund 1000
1-1000-111000
Cash
9-9999-111000
Cash
Total

18,025.24
18,025.24
0.00
0.00
36,050.48

0.00
0.00
18,025.24
18,025.24
36,050.48
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April 21, 2022
Runyon Kersteen Ouellette
20 Long Creek Drive
South Portland, Maine 04106
This representation letter is provided in connection with your audits of the financial statements of the
Greater Portland Transit District, which comprise the respective financial position of the business-type
activities as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the respective changes in financial position and cash
flows for the years then ended, and disclosures (collectively, “the financial statements”), for the purpose
of expressing opinions as to whether the financial statements are presented fairly in all material respects,
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP).
Certain representations in this letter are described as being limited to matters that are material. Items
are considered material, regardless of size, if they involve an omission or misstatement of accounting
information that, in light of surrounding circumstances, makes it probable that the judgment of a
reasonable person relying on the information would be changed or influenced by the omission or
misstatement. An omission or misstatement that is monetarily small in amount could be considered
material as a result of qualitative factors.
We confirm, to the best of our knowledge and belief, as of April 21, 2022, the following representations
made to you during your audit.
Financial Statements
1)

We have fulfilled our responsibilities, as set out in the terms of the audit engagement letter dated
January 10, 2022 including our responsibility for the preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP and for preparation of the supplementary
information in accordance with the applicable criteria.

2)

The financial statements referred to above are fairly presented in conformity with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles and include all properly classified funds and other financial
information of the primary government and all component units required by generally accepted
accounting principles to be included in the financial reporting entity.

3)

We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal
control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

4)

We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal
control to prevent and detect fraud.
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5)

Significant assumptions we used in making accounting estimates, including those measured at fair
value, are reasonable.

6)

Related party relationships and transactions, including revenues, expenditures/expenses, loans,
transfers, leasing arrangements, and guarantees, and amounts receivable from or payable to
related parties have been appropriately accounted for and disclosed in accordance with U.S.
GAAP.

7)

Adjustments or disclosures have been made for all events, including instances of noncompliance,
subsequent to the date of the financial statements that would require adjustment to or disclosure
in the financial statements or in the schedule of findings and questioned costs.

8)

The effects of all known actual or possible litigation, claims, and assessments have been
accounted for and disclosed in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

9)

Guarantees, whether written or oral, under which the District is contingently liable, if any, have
been properly recorded or disclosed.

Information Provided
10)

We have provided you with:
a)
Access to all information, of which we are aware, that is relevant to the preparation and
fair presentation of the financial statements, such as records (including information
obtained from outside of the general and subsidiary ledgers), documentation, and other
matters and all audit or relevant monitoring reports, if any, received from funding
sources.
b)
Additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the audit.
c)
Unrestricted access to persons within the District from whom you determined it
necessary to obtain audit evidence.
d)
Minutes of the meetings of the District or summaries of actions of recent meetings for
which minutes have not yet been prepared.

11)

All material transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the
financial statements and the schedule of expenditures of federal awards.

12)

We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial statements
may be materially misstated as a result of fraud.
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13)

We have no knowledge of any fraud or suspected fraud that affects the District and involves:
a)
Management,
b)
Employees who have significant roles in internal control, or
c)
Others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements.

14)

We have no knowledge of any allegations of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the District’s
financial statements communicated by employees, former employees, regulators, or others.

15)

We have no knowledge of instances of noncompliance or suspected noncompliance with
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, or grant agreements, or waste or abuse, whose effects
should be considered when preparing financial statements.

16)

We have disclosed to you all known actual or possible litigation, claims, and assessments whose
effects should be considered when preparing the financial statements.

17)

We have disclosed to you the identity of the District’s related parties and all the related party
relationships and transactions of, including any side agreements.

Government-specific
18)

There have been no communications from regulatory agencies concerning noncompliance with,
or deficiencies in, financial reporting practices.

19)

We have taken timely and appropriate steps to remedy fraud, noncompliance with provisions of
laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, or abuse that you have reported to us.

20)

We have a process to track the status of audit findings and recommendations.

21)

We have identified to you any previous audits, attestation engagements, and other studies
related to the audit objectives and whether related recommendations have been implemented.

22)

We have identified to you any investigations or legal proceedings that have been initiated
with respect to the period under audit.

23)

We have provided our views on reported findings, conclusions, and recommendations, as well as
our planned corrective actions, for the report.

24)

The District has no plans or intentions that may materially affect the carrying value or
classification of assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources,
and fund balances or net position.

25)

We are responsible for compliance with the laws, regulations, and provisions of contracts and
grant agreements applicable to us, including tax or debt limits and debt contracts, and legal and
contractual provisions for reporting specific activities in separate funds.
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26)

We have appropriately disclosed all information for conduit debt obligations in accordance
with GASBS No. 91 .

27)

We have identified and disclosed to you all instances of identified and suspected fraud and
noncompliance with provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements that we
believe have a material effect on the financial statements.

28)

There are no violations or possible violations of budget ordinances, laws and regulations
(including those pertaining to adopting, approving, and amending budgets), provisions of
contracts and grant agreements, tax or debt limits, and any related debt covenants whose effects
should be considered for disclosure in the financial statements, or as a basis for recording a loss
contingency, or for reporting on noncompliance.

29)

As part of your audit, you assisted with preparation of the financial statements, schedule of
expenditures of federal awards, schedule of expenditures of department awards, and related
notes. We acknowledge our responsibility as it relates to those nonaudit services, including that
we assume all management responsibilities; oversee the services by designating an individual,
preferably within senior management, who possesses suitable skill, knowledge, or experience;
evaluate the adequacy and results of the services performed; and accept responsibility for the
results of the services. We have reviewed, approved, and accepted responsibility for those
financial statements, related notes, schedule of expenditures of department awards and schedule
of expenditures of federal awards.

30)

The District has satisfactory title to all owned assets, and there are no liens or encumbrances on
such assets nor has any asset been pledged as collateral.

31)

The District has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that would have a material
effect on the financial statements in the event of noncompliance.

32)

The financial statements include all component units, appropriately present majority equity
interests in legally separate organizations and joint ventures with an equity interest, and properly
disclose all other joint ventures and other related organizations.

33)

The financial statements include all fiduciary activities required by GASBS No. 84 .

34)

The financial statements properly classify all funds and activities in accordance with
GASBS No. 34 , as amended.

35)

All funds that meet the quantitative criteria in GASB Statement Nos. 34 and 37 for presentation
as major are identified and presented as such and all other funds that are presented as major are
particularly important to financial statement users.
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36)

Components of net position (net investment in capital assets; restricted; and unrestricted)
amounts are properly classified and, if applicable, approved.

37)

Investments, derivative instruments, and land and other real estate held by endowments are
properly valued.

38)

Provisions for uncollectible receivables have been properly identified and recorded.

39)

Expenses have been appropriately classified in or allocated to functions and programs in the
statement of activities, and allocations have been made on a reasonable basis.

40)

Revenues are appropriately classified in the statement of activities within program revenues,
general revenues, contributions to term or permanent endowments, or contributions to
permanent fund principal.

41)

Interfund, internal, and intra-entity activity and balances have been appropriately classified
and reported.

42)

Deposits and investment securities and derivative instruments are properly classified as to risk
and are properly disclosed.

43)

Capital assets, including infrastructure and intangible assets, are properly capitalized, reported,
and, if applicable, depreciated or amortized.

44)

We have appropriately disclosed the District’s policy regarding whether to first apply restricted or
unrestricted resources when an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and
unrestricted net position is available and have determined that net position is properly recognized
under the policy.

45)

We are following our established accounting policy regarding which resources (that is, restricted,
committed, assigned, or unassigned) are considered to be spent first for expenditures for which
more than one resource classification is available. That policy determines the fund balance
classifications for financial reporting purposes.

46)

We acknowledge our responsibility for the required supplementary information (RSI). The RSI is
measured and presented within prescribed guidelines and the methods of measurement and
presentation have not changed from those used in the prior period. We have disclosed to you
any significant assumptions and interpretations underlying the measurement and presentation of
the RSI.

47)

With respect to supplementary information other than RSI on which an in-relation-to opinion is
issued (budgetary basis schedule, schedule of expenditures of federal awards and schedule of
department agreements):
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48)

a)

We acknowledge our responsibility for preparing and presenting the budgetary basis
schedule, the schedule of expenditures of federal awards and schedule of department
agreements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America, and we believe the budgetary basis schedule, schedule of expenditures
of federal awards and schedule of department agreements, including their form and
content, are fairly presented in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America. The methods of measurement and presentation of the
budgetary basis schedules, schedule of expenditures of federal awards and schedule of
department agreements have not changed from those used in the prior period, and we
have disclosed to you any significant assumptions or interpretations underlying the
measurement and presentation of the supplementary information.

b)

If the budgetary basis schedule, schedule of expenditures of federal awards and schedule
of department agreements are not presented with the audited financial statements, we
will make the audited financial statements readily available to the intended users of the
supplementary information other than RSI no later than the date we issue the
supplementary information other than RSI and the auditor’s report thereon.

With respect to federal award programs:
a)

We are responsible for understanding and complying with, and have complied with the
requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal
Awards (Uniform Guidance), including requirements relating to preparation of the
schedule of expenditures of federal awards.

b)

We acknowledge our responsibility for preparing and presenting the schedule of
expenditures of federal awards (SEFA) and disclosures in accordance with the
requirements of the Uniform Guidance, and we believe the SEFA, including its form and
content, is fairly presented in accordance with the Uniform Guidance. The methods of
measurement or presentation of the SEFA have not changed from those used in the prior
period and we have disclosed to you any significant assumptions and interpretations
underlying the measurement or presentation of the SEFA.

c)

If the SEFA is not presented with the audited financial statements, we will make the
audited financial statements readily available to the intended users of the SEFA no later
than the date we issue the SEFA and the auditor’s report thereon.

d)

We have identified and disclosed to you all of our government programs and related
activities subject to the Uniform Guidance compliance audit, and have included in the
SEFA expenditures made during the audit period for all awards provided by federal
agencies in the form of federal awards, federal cost-reimbursement contracts, loans, loan
guarantees, property (including donated surplus property), cooperative agreements,
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interest subsidies, insurance, food commodities, direct appropriations, and other direct
assistance.
e)

We are responsible for understanding and complying with, and have complied with, the
requirements of federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and conditions of federal
awards related to each of our federal programs and have identified and disclosed to you
the requirements of federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and conditions of federal
awards that are considered to have a direct and material effect on each major program.

f)

We are responsible for establishing and maintaining, and have established and
maintained, effective internal control over compliance for federal programs that provides
reasonable assurance that we are managing our federal awards in compliance with
federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and conditions of federal awards that could
have a material effect on our federal programs. We believe the internal control system is
adequate and is functioning as intended.

g)

We have made available to you all federal awards (including amendments, if any) and any
other correspondence with federal agencies or pass-through entities relevant to federal
programs and related activities.

h)

We have received no requests from a federal agency to audit one or more specific
programs as a major program.

i)

We have complied with the direct and material compliance requirements (except for
noncompliance disclosed to you), including when applicable, those set forth in the OMB
Compliance Supplement, relating to federal awards and have identified and disclosed to
you all amounts questioned and all known noncompliance with the direct and material
compliance requirements of federal awards or confirm that there were no amounts
questioned and no known noncompliance with the direct and material compliance
requirements of federal awards.

j)

We have disclosed any communications from federal awarding agencies and passthrough entities concerning possible noncompliance with the direct and material
compliance requirements, including communications received from the end of the period
covered by the compliance audit to the date of the auditor’s report.

k)

We have disclosed to you the findings received and related corrective actions taken for
previous audits, attestation engagements, and internal or external monitoring that
directly relate to the objectives of the compliance audit, including findings received and
corrective actions taken from the end of the period covered by the compliance audit to
the date of the auditor’s report.
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l)

Amounts claimed or used for matching were determined in accordance with relevant
guidelines in OMB‘s Uniform Guidance (2 CFR part 200, subpart E) and OMB Circular A87, Cost Principles for State, Local, and Indian Tribal Governments, if applicable.

m)

We have disclosed to you our interpretation of compliance requirements that may have
varying interpretations.

n)

We have made available to you all documentation related to compliance with the direct
and material compliance requirements, including information related to federal program
financial reports and claims for advances and reimbursements.

o)

We have disclosed to you the nature of any subsequent events that provide additional
evidence about conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period affecting
noncompliance during the reporting period.

p)

There are no such known instances of noncompliance with direct and material compliance
requirements that occurred subsequent to the period covered by the auditor’s report.

q)

No changes have been made in internal control over compliance or other factors that
might significantly affect internal control, including any corrective action we have taken
regarding significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in internal control over
compliance, subsequent to the period covered by the auditor’s report.

r)

Federal program financial reports and claims for advances and reimbursements are
supported by the books and records from which the financial statements have been
prepared.

s)

The copies of federal program financial reports provided you are true copies of the
reports submitted, or electronically transmitted, to the respective federal agency or passthrough entity, as applicable.

t)

We have monitored subrecipients, as necessary, to determine that they have expended
subawards in compliance with federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and conditions
of the sub award and have met the other pass-through entity requirements of the
Uniform Guidance.

u)

We have issued management decisions for audit findings that relate to federal awards
made to subrecipients and such management decisions have been issued within six
months of acceptance of the audit report by the Federal Audit Clearinghouse.
Additionally, we have followed-up ensuring that the subrecipient has taken timely
and appropriate action on all deficiencies detected through audits, on-site reviews,
and other means that pertain to the federal award provided to the subrecipient
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v)

We have considered the results of subrecipient audits and have made any necessary
adjustments to our books and records.

w)

We have charged costs to federal awards in accordance with applicable cost
principles.

x)

We are responsible for and have accurately prepared the summary schedule of prior audit
findings to include all findings required to be included by the Uniform Guidance, and we
have provided you with all information on the status of the follow-up on prior audit
findings by federal awarding agencies and pass-through entities, including all
management decisions.

y)

We are responsible for and have ensured the reporting package does not contain
protected personally identifiable information.

z)

We are responsible for and have accurately prepared the auditee section of the Data
Collection Form as required by the Uniform Guidance.

aa)

We are responsible for taking corrective action on each audit finding of the compliance
audit and have developed a corrective action plan that meets the requirements of the
Uniform Guidance.

Signed: _________________________
(Finance Director)
Date:

4/21/2022

__________________________
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Independent Auditor's Report
To the Board of Directors of the
Greater Portland Transit District
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinions
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Greater Portland Transit District, as of and
for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the related notes to the financial statements, which
collectively comprise the District’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
respective financial position of the Greater Portland Transit District, as of December 31, 2021 and 2020,
and the respective changes in financial position and cash flows thereof for the years then ended in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Basis for Opinions
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report. We are required to be independent of the Greater Portland Transit District and to meet our other
ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.
Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and for the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions
or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Greater Portland Transit
District’s ability to continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date,
including any currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government
Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are
considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence
the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.
In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing
Standards, we:
• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or

error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Greater Portland Transit District’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is
expressed.
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial
statements.
• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that
raise substantial doubt about the Greater Portland Transit District’s ability to continue as a going concern
for a reasonable period of time.
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that
we identified during the audit.
Required Supplementary Information
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management discussion
and analysis and schedules related to the net pension liability (asset) and OPEB liabilities, as listed in the table of
contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of
management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic
financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.
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We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of
management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency
with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained
during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the
information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or
provide any assurance.
Supplementary Information
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the Greater Portland Transit District’s basic financial statements. The Schedule of Revenues and
Expenses – Budget and Actual is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the
basic financial statements. The Schedule of Revenues and Expenses – Budget and Actual is the responsibility of
management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to
prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied
in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and
reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic
financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the
Schedule of Revenues and Expenses – Budget and Actual expenses is fairly stated in all material respects in relation
to the basic financial statements as a whole.
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated April 21, 2022, on our
consideration of the Greater Portland Transit District’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests
of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters.
The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting
and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed
in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering Greater Portland Transit District’s internal
control over financial reporting and compliance.

April 21, 2022
South Portland, Maine

GREATER PORTLAND TRANSIT DISTRICT
Management Discussion and Analysis
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2021
The Greater Portland Transit District (GPTD) is a municipal transit district formed under M.R.S.A Title 30-A, Part 2.5,
Section 163, providing public transportation to the member cities of Portland and Westbrook, and the Towns of
Falmouth, Yarmouth, Freeport, and Brunswick. The following is a narrative guide to aid the reader in understanding
GPTD’s financial performance and status that is presented in the financial statements and accompanying notes.
As a recipient of federal funds, GPTD is also required to undergo a single audit in conformity with Title 2 U.S. Code of
Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for
Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). This “single audit” is designed to meet the special requirements of federal grantor
agencies to assure proper handling and accounting of federal funds.
As a recipient of State funds, GPTD is also required to undergo an independent review of expenditures and department
agreements in accordance with the Maine Uniform Accounting and Auditing Practices for Community Agencies (MAAP).
This review is required to confirm compliance with the internal control requirements relevant to the preparation and
fair presentation of the schedule of expenditures of department agreements.
Financial Highlights
•
•

•

•

•

Capital Assets. Capital assets, net of depreciation decreased in 2021 by $870,800, about 5.53%. This reflects
the addition of two new diesel buses, as well as two new passenger shelters placed in service, which was offset
by annual asset depreciation and two bus disposals, causing the overall decline.
Current Liabilities. The decrease in current liabilities of $122,673, 10.92%, reflects a $263,624 and $1,082
decrease in amounts payable to other governments and accounts payable, respectively, a $39,552 increase in
accrued payroll costs, and a $19,316 increase in other liabilities at year-end. There is an added increase of
$91,296 for deferred fare revenue. The deferred fare revenue represents regional purchases of stored value
and single ride tokens that has not yet been used for rides.
Noncurrent Liabilities. Noncurrent liabilities decreased by $24,442, about 1.12%, of which $182,500 is the
long-term portion of debt for the financing of local match for new buses. Accrued compensated absences
increased by $22,229 (this includes the current-portion decrease of $8,131), which primarily reflects wage
increases and a change in the collective bargaining agreement increasing PTO days from 11 to 12. Other
postemployment benefits (OPEB) liability increased by $127,698. The 2021 OPEB liability is $770,633 as
described on page 18.
Net Position. Overall net position for GPTD decreased by 2.46%, or $391,206, almost entirely due to the net
decrease in capital assets, many of which were funded with capital grants. Restricted net position, which is
the unexpended portion of local match funds for awarded capital grants, increased by $136,612. Unrestrictedunreserved net position decreased by 4.19%, or about $34,593. The calculation of net position is shown on
page 9, and the allocation of net position is explained beginning on page 20. GPTD realized a net budgetary
surplus (revenues minus expenditures) of $388,075.
GPTD finances its cash flow through issuance of an annual Revenue Anticipation Note (RAN), in advance of
receiving assessment payments from member communities.

Relevant Financial Policies
The Board of Directors for the GPTD adopted a Financial Reserve Policy in 2018 with a goal of achieving and maintaining
an unrestricted amount of net position of no less than 16.66%, or two months, of the subsequent year’s operating
budget expenditures. That Policy also requires an equal amount of cash to be restricted to match the amount reserved.
On page 8, it shows that 2020 total Unrestricted Net Position was $1,531,467. Of that amount, $704,925 was reserved
for the Policy, which has an equal amount of cash restricted, as required. This represented 5.52% of 2021 budgeted
expenditures. Any increase to that amount has to be supported by an equal increase in restricted cash, which ensures
available funding for any use of the reserve.
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The 2021 year-end unrestricted net position is $1,691,949, which reflects the budgetary surplus of $388,075 and is an
increase from 2020 of $160,482. In an effort to move closer to its Board Policy goal, GPTD management increased the
level of reserves to $900,000 in 2021, which leaves a balance of $791,949 in unrestricted net position. The unrestricted,
reserved for Board policy amount of $900,000, is about 6.67% of 2022 budgeted operating expenditures. Page 19
shows the amount of restricted cash. The full Policy calculation, at 16.66%, would require a reserve of $2,249,255 for
the 2022 budget amount. Note that any increase in budgeted operating expenditures impacts the percentage.
Financial Statements
GPTD Basic Financial Statements include the Statements of Net Position, Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and
Changes in Net Position, and Statements of Cash Flows. The Notes to Basic Financial Statements are in integral part of
understanding these Statements.
Budgeted Revenues
Revenues were under budgeted amounts by 4.07%, or about $519,745, and were 1.65%, or $205,530, lower than 2020.
Most of the variances in revenues can be contributed to the COVID-19 pandemic, beginning in early 2020. The budget
to actual schedule is on page 25.
Passenger Fares. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, passenger fares were significantly under budget by about 32.99%,
or $681,875. GPTD suspended collection of passenger fares in March 2020. Fare collection was resumed in October
2020. Additionally, the launch of the Automated Fare Collection System and a fare increase, that was originally
scheduled for early 2020, were implemented when fare collection resumed in October 2020. Despite these measures,
fare recovery from the pandemic in 2021 is struggling to take hold. Ridership continued to dip further in 2021,
decreasing by 71,932, almost 6.61% from 2020. Ridership in 2020 was also sharply decreased due to the pandemic.
Advertising Revenue. Collected revenue from transit advertising was nearly level with budget at 0.39%, or $756 lower
than the budgeted estimate, and $28,451, or 17.16%, higher than in 2020. These variances can be contributed to the
continued economic recovery from COVID-19. A number of advertising contracts are now in place, as a number of
contracts were cancelled in 2020.
Federal and State Assistance. Collections from Federal and State agencies was 12.10% lower than 2020, or down by
$901,107. GPTD was awarded a Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act -grant, which funded 100%
of all operating costs for five months of 2020. In 2021, less CARES Act grant funds were available to fund operating
costs, as other planned grant uses such as metropolitan planning and renovation projects began or were completed.
GPTD also received its annual operating grant and collected funds for the other months of the year.
Total federal and state assistance for 2021 was 2.36% higher than budgeted, or $151,044, which is also primarily
attributed to the addition of the CARES Act funding received. This funding covered all costs, including Transit West,
ADA, and Preventative Maintenance operating costs, which leaves available balances in the annual operating grant
that can be accessed for future eligible costs.
Local Investment. Payments from communities were $203,749, or 5.32%, higher than in 2020. This was a result of an
additional $191,464, or 5% in local assessments and match for operating and capital costs. In addition to member
community assessments, local investment includes contributions from Gorham, who is a non-member community for
the Transit West expansion.
Budgeted Expenses
Total operating expenses for 2021 were under budget by 7.10%, or $907,820, and about 1.87%, or $217,582 more than
2020. The budget to actual schedule for expenses begins on page 26.
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Wages and benefits (personnel). Total wages and benefits costs were about 2.95% higher, or about $256,559 than in
2020. This primarily reflects a 3.00% wage increase for all employees and step increases for union employees. 2021
health insurance premiums remained stable, incurring minor deviations from 2020. For 2021, wages and benefits were
under budget by 3.20%, or $296,167. GPTD experienced stable staffing levels during 2021, which allowed overtime to
be under expended by $178,975. Benefits were also under expended, by $59,193, primarily from a credit for FICA
taxes on certain wages paid under the CARES Act.
Fleet parts and services and fuel. The cost of maintaining the fleet combined with fuel costs, were under budget by
$125,807, about 12.28% with a savings in CNG fuel of $394, diesel of $88,626, and parts of $48,970. Over expenditures
were incurred in tires and fluids of $12,183. The total expense was $28,873 lower than 2020. GPTD experienced supply
chain issues that pushed tire costs over budget but locked in lower diesel fuel pricing in its current contract which
resulted in net savings overall.
Advertising services. Advertising services were under budget by about 58.88%, or $47,395. A majority of GPTD’s
advertising dollars are typically used for initiatives to grow ridership. As a result of COVID-19, certain initiatives were
temporarily suspended, with most advertising spending redirected to pandemic-related recommendations and
requirements onboard buses. This resulted in the 2021 budgetary savings.
Contracted services. Contracted services were under budget by about 12.22%, or $42,665. This is almost entirely due
to an intentional delay in executing a custodial contract, which resulted in the positive budget variance. Procurement
to secure this contract is planned for 2022.
Utilities and telephone. The total cost of heat, electricity, phone, water, sewer, and storm water was under budget by
about 24.73%, or $98,432. Total cost was nearly flat but decreased 0.43% compared to 2020.
Maintenance services. The total cost of maintenance services was under budget by 24.00%, or $78,266. Costs
budgeted for maintenance services and supplies, copier maintenance, and snow plowing were under budget.
Growth and Initiatives
GPTD’s progress in growing ridership over the past several years has slowed during the pandemic, with overall ridership
in 2021 being about 51.84% less than the pre-pandemic levels of 2019. GPTD is working to reintroduce public transit
to riders that left during these times, along with attracting new ridership. Albeit lower than 2019 levels, ridership
steadily increased month over month in 2021, and GPTD has continued to see that growth trend into 2022.
GPTD received two new diesel buses in 2021, replacing similar 2004 buses. GPTD will continue to update its bus fleet,
with the purchase of two electric buses in 2022. Additionally, GPTD will be working to finalize the procurement of four
diesel buses in late 2022 that will replace the smaller express service buses currently in use.
The automated fare system was launched, along with a fare increase, in October 2020. A full year after the
implementation, GPTD evaluations have demonstrated a high adoption rate among passengers. The automated fare
system allows for contactless payment options for passengers, and simplifies transition to and from the partner agency
routes of South Portland Bus Service and Biddeford, Saco, Old Orchard Beach Transit. GPTD continues to identify
opportunities for employer pass programs for public transit.
Conclusion
GPTD’s commitment to technology and infrastructure enhancements, along with a continued effort to introduce
service and frequency improvements, allows the delivery of public transit services that are easily accessible,
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convenient, and increase mobility in its areas of operation. GPTD is confident that the increasing ridership trend that
has continued into 2022 will lead to strengthening GPTD’s future fiscal health.
Requests for Information
This purpose of this financial report is to provide a general overview of the Greater Portland Transit District’s finances.
Any questions concerning this report or additional information should be addressed to Shelly Brooks, Finance Director,
Greater Portland Transit District, 14 Valley Street, Portland, Maine 04102.
More information about GPTD can be found on its web site, gpmetro.org, where past budgets and financial reports
can also be accessed.
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GREATER PORTLAND TRANSIT DISTRICT
Statements of Net Position
December 31, 2021 and 2020
2021
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Receivables from other governments:
Grants
Other
Inventory
Prepaid expenses
Total current assets

$

2020

2,101,945
74,986

2,078,028
42,607

1,004,786
72,087
341,437
107,788
3,703,029

771,020
120,100
320,379
71,297
3,403,431

133,175
107,095
6,473,672
18,756,242
704,549
4,713,636
30,888,369
16,012,267
14,876,102

133,175
117,276
6,473,672
17,736,515
674,157
4,713,636
29,848,431
14,101,529
15,746,902

18,579,131

19,150,333

127,603
127,603

108,364
108,364

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Payable to other governments
Accrued payroll and payroll taxes
Other liabilities
Unearned fare revenue
Current portion of accrued compensated absences
Current portion of notes payable
Total current liabilities

162,044
246,344
175,717
45,111
173,390
16,021
182,500
1,001,127

163,126
509,968
136,165
25,795
82,094
24,152
182,500
1,123,800

Noncurrent liabilities:
OPEB obligation
Accrued compensated absences
Notes payable
Total noncurrent liabilities

770,633
146,544
1,243,000
2,160,177

642,935
116,184
1,425,500
2,184,619

3,161,304

3,308,419

53,508
53,508

67,150
67,150

13,450,602
349,371
900,000
791,949

14,138,902
212,759
704,925
826,542

Capital assets:
Land
Construction in progress
Buildings and improvements
Vehicles
Passenger shelters
Equipment
Total capital assets
Less accumulated depreciation
Capital assets, net
Total assets
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB
Total deferred outflows of resources

Total liabilities
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB
Total deferred inflows of resources
NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted
Unrestricted, reserved for board policy
Unrestricted, unreserved
Total net position

$
15,491,922
15,883,128
See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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GREATER PORTLAND TRANSIT DISTRICT
Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
2021

2020

1,385,127
40,228
25,799
7,363,153
3,924,450
194,244
14,807
10,088
20,120
12,978,016

758,856
41,750
21,225
8,077,968
3,802,188
165,793
9,195
13,044
12,890,019

Operating expenses before depreciation:
Personnel
Temporary help
ADA Paratransit
Fuel
Dues and subscriptions
Other employee costs
Fleet parts and services
Insurance
Advertising
Office supplies
Contract services
Utilities and telephone
Operating lease and related costs
Maintenance costs
Total operating expenses before depreciation

9,039,770
21,810
350,479
538,830
36,774
25,286
360,038
325,138
33,105
23,626
1,177,761
299,561
70,169
252,824
12,555,171

8,742,244
290,551
527,783
33,683
23,022
733,913
299,877
46,984
23,487
698,797
300,840
304,866
12,026,047

Operating income (loss) before depreciation

422,845

863,972

Operating revenues:
Passenger fares
Regional Transportation Program rent
Outside repairs, maintenance and CNG sales
Federal and state operating grants
Local assessments for operating
Advertising
Insurance proceeds
Autofare reimbursement
Miscellaneous income
Total operating revenues

$

Depreciation expense
Operating income (loss) after depreciation

1,920,972
(1,498,127)

1,660,011
(796,039)

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Federal and state capital grants
Local assessments for capital
Wellness grant
Rock Row payment
Gain (loss) on disposal of capital assets
Interest income
Bank interest and fees
Interest on debt service
Total nonoperating revenues (expenses)

1,071,342
100,550
3,014
(5,455)
6,109
(19,645)
(48,994)
1,106,921

3,230,496
40,885
175,000
13,158
14,219
(11,793)
(69,395)
3,392,570

Change in net position

(391,206)

2,596,531

Net position, beginning of year

15,883,128

Net position, end of year

13,286,597

$
15,491,922
15,883,128
See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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GREATER PORTLAND TRANSIT DISTRICT
Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
2021
Cash flows from operating activities:
Receipts from customers
Receipts from federal and state operating grants
Receipts from local sources
Receipts from insurance proceeds
Payments to suppliers
Payments to employees
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

$

Cash flows from investing activities:
Interest income
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

6,109
6,109

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Local sources
Federal and State capital grants
Bond issuance proceeds
Principal payments on bonds
Proceeds from sale of capital assets
Purchase of capital assets
Interest payments
Net cash provided by (used in) capital and related financing activities

100,550
1,071,342
(182,500)
3,000
(1,058,627)
(48,994)
(115,229)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

1,785,550
7,129,387
3,924,450
14,807
(3,790,889)
(8,930,268)
133,037

$

2020

1,121,650
7,917,293
3,977,188
8,950
(2,857,449)
(8,767,584)
1,400,048

14,219
14,219

40,885
3,230,496
510,000
(436,257)
13,158
(3,706,917)
(69,395)
(418,030)

23,917

996,237

2,078,028

1,081,791

2,101,945

2,078,028

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to
net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Operating income (loss)
$
(1,498,127)
(796,039)
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash provided by
(used in) operating activities:
Depreciation
1,920,972
1,660,011
Bank interest and fees
(19,645)
(11,793)
Rock Row payment
175,000
Wellness grant
3,014
Amortization of deferred inflows and outflows of resources related to OPEB
(32,881)
(55,852)
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
15,634
38,888
Grants receivable
(233,766)
(160,675)
Inventory
(21,058)
60,398
Prepaid expenses
(36,491)
(68,532)
Accounts payable
(264,706)
415,481
Accrued payroll and payroll taxes
39,552
(65,674)
Other liabilities
19,316
7,533
Deferred fare revenue
91,296
82,094
Accrued compensated absences
22,229
9,506
Net OPEB obligation
127,698
109,702
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
$
133,037
1,400,048
See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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GREATER PORTLAND TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Basic Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Organization - The Greater Portland Transit District (the District), incorporated June 24, 1966, is a quasi‐
municipal corporation, organized in accordance with the provisions of Title 30-A, Chapter 163, of the Maine State
Statutes, to operate a public mass transit passenger bus service for the inhabitants of the municipalities
comprising the District. The membership of the District is composed of the cities of Portland and Westbrook, and
the Towns of Falmouth, Yarmouth, Freeport, and Brunswick. The Board of Directors consists of five directors
appointed from the City of Portland, three directors appointed from the City of Westbrook, two directors
appointed from the Town of Falmouth, and one each from the Towns of Yarmouth, Freeport, and Brunswick.
Economic Dependency - The District is economically dependent upon grants from the Federal Transit
Administration and subsidies from the City of Portland, the City of Westbrook, and the Town of Falmouth.
Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting - The accounting and financial reporting treatment is determined
by the applicable measurement focus and basis of accounting. Measurement focus indicates the type of resources
being measured, such as current financial resources or economic resources. The basis of accounting indicates the
timing of transactions or events for recognition in the financial statements.
The financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of
accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless
of the timing of the related cash flows.
Operating revenues and expenses are distinguished from nonoperating items. Operating revenues and expenses
generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with the District’s
principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the District are charges to customers for sales
and services, operating grants from federal and state funding sources, and local member contributions. Operating
expenses include the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All
revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.
Cash and Investments - Cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits and time
deposits. Investments are stated at fair value.
Accounts Receivable and Receivables From Other Governments - The District grants credit to local governments
and businesses. In addition, grants are received for operations and various capital acquisitions. The portion of
grants not received at year-end is included in the balance sheet as grants receivable. The amounts of these
receivables are subject to acceptance of qualified expenditures by responsible grantor agencies. Grants received
prior to obligation or expenditure of funds are recorded as unearned grants.
Management believes that all accounts receivable and grants receivable at December 31, 2021 and 2020 are fully
collectable. Therefore, no allowance for doubtful accounts is recorded.
Net Position - Although not a formal policy, when both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use,
it is the District’s intent to use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed.
Net Position Reserve - The Board of Directors for the District adopted a Financial Reserve Policy in 2018 with a goal
of achieving and maintaining an unrestricted amount of net position of no less than 16.66%, or two months, of the
subsequent year’s operating budget expenditures. That Policy also requires an equal amount of cash to be restricted
to match the amount reserved.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CONTINUED
Inventory ‐ Inventories are valued at the lower of cost (first‐in, first‐out basis) or market and are recorded as
expenditures when used (consumption method). Inventory consists of materials and supplies.
Prepaid Expenses - Payments to vendors that will benefit periods beyond the fiscal year are recorded as prepaid
expenses.
Capital Assets - Capital assets owned by the District are stated at the cost to acquire or construct the asset and
are comprised of land, building, vehicles, and other capital assets. Donated capital assets are recorded at
acquisition value. Routine maintenance and repairs are charged against income. Expenses, which materially
increase values, change capacities, or extend useful lives are capitalized. The threshold for capitalization of an
asset is $5,000. The provision for depreciation has been computed by the use of the straight-line method at rates
intended to amortize the cost of the related assets over their estimated useful lives.
Estimated useful lives are as follows:
Buildings and improvements
Bus stops and shelters
Office equipment
Service vehicles
Shop equipment
Vehicles
Computer equipment/software

10-50 years
5-20 years
5-10 years
7-12 years
7-20 years
4-12 years
3 years

Deferred Inflows and Outflows of Resources - In addition to assets and liabilities, the statement of net position
will sometimes report separate sections for deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources.
These separate financial statement elements, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources,
represent a consumption or acquisition of total position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be
recognized as an outflow of resources (expense) or inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. The District has
deferred outflows and inflows that relate to the total other postemployment benefits (OPEB) liability, which
include the District’s contributions subsequent to the measurement date, which is recognized as a reduction of
the total OPEB liability in the subsequent year. They also include changes in assumptions and differences between
expected and actual experience, which are deferred and amortized over the average expected remaining service
lives of active and inactive members in the plan.
Accrued Compensated Absences ‐ Under terms of personnel policies and union contracts of the District,
compensated absences are granted and paid out to employees upon departure from employment. The District
currently offers vacation accrual, sick accrual, and paid time off (PTO). For non-union employees, vacation is paid
out at 100% of earned time regardless of time of service. Sick and PTO are paid out based on length of service.
Union employees are paid out all accrued unused PTO and pro-rated vacation time based on length of service in
the year of termination.
Use of Estimates - The presentation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CONTINUED
Reclassifications - Certain amounts presented in the prior year data have been reclassified in order to be
consistent with the current year’s presentation.
DEPOSITS
Custodial credit risk – deposits: In the case of deposits, this is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the
District’s deposits may not be returned to it. The District currently does not have a written deposit policy for
custodial credit risk but does attempt to have all deposits insured and collateralized. As of December 31, 2021,
the District reported deposits of $2,101,945 with a bank balance of $2,294,921. The District’s entire bank balance
is insured by federal depository insurance.
Interest rate risk: The District currently does not have a written policy for interest rate risk.
Credit Risk: Maine statutes authorize the District to invest in obligations of the U.S. Treasury and U.S. agencies,
repurchase agreements and certain corporate stocks and bonds. The District currently does not have a written
policy for credit risk.
CAPITAL ASSETS
Capital asset activity for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 was as follows:
Balance
12/31/2020
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land
$ 133,175
Construction in progress
117,276
Total capital assets not being depreciated
250,451

Increases

Decreases

Balance
12/31/2021

19,481
19,481

29,662
29,662

133,175
107,095
240,270

Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements
Vehicles
Passenger stations
Equipment
Total capital assets being depreciated

6,473,672
17,736,515
674,157
4,713,636
29,597,980

1,038,416
30,392
1,068,808

18,689
18,689

6,473,672
18,756,242
704,549
4,713,636
30,648,099

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and improvements
Vehicles
Passenger stations
Equipment
Total accumulated depreciation

4,993,298
5,348,873
91,886
3,667,472
14,101,529

227,349
1,549,524
34,399
109,700
1,920,972

10,234
10,234

5,220,647
6,888,163
126,285
3,777,172
16,012,267

Total capital assets being depreciated, net 15,496,451

(852,164)

8,455

14,635,832

Capital assets, net

(832,683)

38,117

14,876,102

$ 15,746,902
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LONG-TERM DEBT
The following is a summary of long-term liability transactions of the District for the year ended December 31,
2021:
Beginning
Ending
Due within
Balance
Additions Deletions
balance
one year
Notes from direct borrowing
Other postemployment liabilities
Accrued compensated absences
Total long-term liabilities

$ 1,608,000
642,935
140,336

127,698
39,791

182,500
17,562

1,425,500
770,633
162,565

182,500
16,021

$ 2,391,271

167,489

200,062

2,358,698

198,521

Notes payable at December 31, 2021 are comprised of the following individual issues:
Date of
issue
2018
2019
2020

2018 Buses
2019 Buses
2020 Buses

Amount
issued
$ 855,000
460,000
510,000

Interest
rate
1.92-2.99%
1.72-2.39%
1.24-1.74%

Maturity
date
11/1/2028
11/1/2029
11/1/2030

Total notes payable

Balance
12/31/21
$ 598,500
368,000
459,000

Balance
12/31/20
684,000
414,000
510,000

$ 1,425,500

1,608,000

The annual requirements to amortize notes payable outstanding as of December 31, 2021 are as follows:
Year ended December 31,

Principal

Interest

Total

2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027-2030

$ 182,500
182,500
182,500
182,500
182,500
513,000

30,838
27,258
23,537
19,666
15,678
22,550

213,338
209,758
206,037
202,166
198,178
535,550

$ 1,425,500

139,527

1,565,027

Totals
GRANTOR REVIEW

Federal and State grants are subject to grantor review and final approval. Although it is not anticipated that any
claims would be made against the District by the grantor agencies, grants remain subject to ultimate closeout.
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RISK MANAGEMENT
The Greater Portland Transit District is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to and
destruction of assets; errors and omissions; and natural disasters for which the Greater Portland Transit District
carries commercial insurance.
PENSION PLAN
The Greater Portland Transit District has a defined contribution retirement plan under Section 401(a) of the
Internal Revenue Code covering all full-time employees.
Union employees are eligible to participate once their qualifying period has ended. Qualification for operators
occurs the first of the month following 90 days after signing their employee contract. Qualification for
maintenance employees occurs the first of the month following 60 days after their date of hire. Nonunion
employees are eligible to participate 90 days after their date of hire. Union employees are fully vested after 60
months of employment. All nonunion employees are fully vested immediately.
The District matches voluntary union and nonunion employee contributions to a 401 (a) plan. All contributions
are voluntary and in fiscal year 2021, the District contributed up to 7.0% of the employees' gross pay, compared
to 6.5% in 2020, the District contributed 15% of the General Manager's compensation, without regard to his
contribution, for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, employee contributions amounted to $0 and $0
and employer contributions were $371,495 and $319,721.
457 RETIREMENT PLAN
The District offers its employees a deferred compensation plan created in accordance with Internal Revenue Code
(IRC) Section 457. The plan permits participating employees to defer a portion of their salary until future years.
The deferred compensation is not available to employees until termination, retirement, death, or unforeseeable
emergency.
Assets of the plan are placed in trust for the exclusive benefit of participants and their beneficiaries. Accordingly,
the assets and the liability for the compensation deferred by plan participants, including earnings on plan assets
are not included in the District’s financial statements. For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
respectively, employee contributions amounted to $456,392 and $393,343 and employer contributions were $0
and $0.
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OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
General Information about the OPEB Plans
Plan Description - The District sponsors a postretirement benefit plan providing health insurance to retiring
employees (hereafter referred to as the Health Plan). The plan is a single-employer defined benefit OPEB plan
administered by the Maine Municipal Employees Health Trust (MMEHT). The Board of Directors have the authority
to establish and amend the benefit terms and financing requirements. No assets are accumulated in a trust that
meets the criteria of paragraph 4 of GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for
Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions.
Benefits Provided - Retirees with a minimum of age 55 and 5 years of service at retirement are eligible for
postretirement health insurance benefits. The eligibility for explicit subsidy is age 62 and 20 years of service. The
explicit subsidy represents the contributions towards retiree health insurance that District pays. Currently, the
District provides an explicit subsidy of 100% of single Pre-Medicare coverage. The District does not provide any
subsidy for spouses.
Employees Covered by Benefit Terms – At December 31, 2021, the following employees were covered by
the Health Plan benefit terms:
Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits
Inactive employee entitled to but not yet receiving benefits
Active employees
Total

2
88
90

Contributions - The District is required to pay 100% of the health insurance premiums toward single Pre-Medicare
coverage, the total District contributions for the year ended December 31, 2021 were $7,832.
OPEB Liabilities, OPEB Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related
to OPEB
The District’s total Health Plan OPEB liability of $770,633 was measured as of January 1, 2021 and was determined
by an actuarial valuation as of January 1, 2020.
Changes in the Total Health Plan OPEB Liability
Balance at December 31, 2020
Changes for the year:
Service cost
Interest
Changes of benefit terms
Differences between expected and actual experience
Changes in assumptions or other inputs
Benefit payments
Net changes
Balance at December 31, 2021
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$

Total OPEB
Liability
642,935

$

70,683
19,447
45,400
(7,832)
127,698
770,633

GREATER PORTLAND TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Basic Financial Statements, Continued

OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS, CONTINUED
Change in assumptions reflects a change in the discount rate from 2.74% to 2.12%.
For the year ended December 30, 2021, the District recognized OPEB expense of $94,817 related to the Health
Plan. At December 31, 2021, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to the Health Plan from the following sources:

Differences between expected and actual experience
Changes of assumption or other inputs
Contributions after measurement date
Total

$
$

Deferred
Outflows of
Resources

120,072
7,531
127,603

Deferred
Inflows of
Resources
53,508
53,508

An amount of $7,531 is reported as deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB resulting from District
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net OPEB liability in
the year ended December 31, 2022. Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to the Health Plan OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows:
Year ended December 30:
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
Thereafter

$

12,331
12,331
12,337
7,904
15,177
6,484

Actuarial Assumptions and Other Inputs - The total OPEB liability in the January 1, 2021 actuarial valuation for
the Health Plan was determined using the following assumptions and other inputs, applied to all periods included
in the measurement, unless otherwise specified:
Inflation
Salary increases
Discount rate
Healthcare cost trend rates

2.00% per year
2.75% per year
2.12%
Initial trend of 8.55% grading over 20 years to
3.28% per annum
100% of projected health insurance premiums

Retirees’ share of the benefit related costs

Mortality rates for the Health Plan were based on the RP2014 Total Dataset Healthy Annuitant Mortality Table,
for males and females.
The actuarial assumptions used in the January 1, 2020 valuation for the Health Plan were based on the results of
an actuarial experience study for the period June 30, 2012 through June 30, 2015.
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OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS, CONTINUED
Discount Rate - The rate used to measure the total OPEB liability for the Health Plan was 2.12%. The discount rate
was based upon high quality AA/Aa or higher bond yields in effect for 20 years, tax-exempt general obligation
municipal bonds using the Bond Buyer 20-Bond GO Index.
Sensitivity of the Total Health Plan OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate – The following presents the
District’s total OPEB liability related to the Health Plan calculated using the discount rate of 2.12%, as well as what
the District’s total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage-point
lower (1.12%) or 1 percentage-point higher (3.12%) than the current rate:

Total OPEB liability

1%
Decrease
(1.12%)
895,848

$

Discount
Rate
(2.12%)
770,633

1%
Increase
(3.12%)
668,616

Sensitivity of the Total Health Plan OPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcare Cost Trend Rates - The following
presents the District’s total OPEB liability related to the Health Plan calculated using the healthcare cost trend
rates, as well as what the District’s total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using healthcare cost trend
rates that are 1 percentage-point lower or 1 percentage-point higher than the current healthcare cost trend rates:

Total OPEB liability

1%
Decrease
656,661

$

Healthcare Cost
Trend Rates
770,633

1%
Increase
914,489

SHORT-TERM LIABILITIES
The District obtained short-term borrowing in the form of a revenue anticipation note for immediate cash flow
needs. Short-term liability transactions for the year ended December 31, 2021 were as follows:
Beginning
Balance
Revenue anticipation note

$

-

Additions

Deletions

4,600,000 4,600,000

Ending
balance
-

NET POSITION
Net position represents the difference between assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred
inflows of resources. Net investment in capital assets consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation,
reduced by outstanding long-term debt and adding back any unspent proceeds. Net position is reported as
restricted when there are limitations imposed on their use either through the enabling legislations adopted by the
District or through external restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors or laws or regulations of other
governments. Unrestricted net position is any remainder of total net position less net investment in capital assets
and restricted net position.
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NET POSITION, CONTINUED
The District’s net investment in capital assets was calculated as follows at December 31, 2021 and 2020:
Capital assets
Accumulated depreciation
Notes payable
Total net investment in capital assets

2021
$ 30,888,369
(16,012,267)
(1,425,500)

2020
29,848,431
(14,101,529)
(1,608,000)

$ 13,450,602

14,138,902

The District’s net position at December 31, 2021 and 2020 was restricted for the local match of the following
grants and projects:
ME-90-X213
ME-2016-016
ME-2016-017
ME-2017-008
ME-2017-007
ME-2018-016
ME-2019-010
ME-2019-013
ME-2020-025
ME-2021-025
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

2015 Operating Assistance & Cap Maintenance
2016 Operating Assistance & Cap Maintenance
Regional Bus Shelter/Sign Project
2017 Operating Assistance & Cap Maintenance
Northern Service Expansion - Phase 2
2018 Operating Assistance & Cap Maintenance
2019 Operating Assistance & Cap Maintenance
Electric Bus Project
2020 Operating Assistance & Cap Maintenance
2021 Operating Assistance & Cap Maint
Facility
Bus Stop Improvement
2018 Operations - Electric signs
RTP Reno
Bus painting

Total restricted net position

2021
$ 7,630
34,455
8,002
31,083
150
3,039
10,000
84,225
37,229
44,000
5,000
30,000
42,958
10,000
1,600

2020
12,120
45,177
9,469
31,083
296
10,449
10,000
21,562
5,000
20,000
42,958
1,600

$ 349,371

212,759

The District has set aside cash balances to support restricted net position and unrestricted net position, reserved
for board policy to ensure that cash will be on hand when these amounts are drawn upon. As of December 31,
2021 and 2020, the District has designated the following amounts of net position within cash and cash equivalents:
Restricted net position
Unrestricted, reserved for board policy
Total
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2021
$ 349,371
900,000

2020
212,759
704,925

$ 1,249,371

917,684

GREATER PORTLAND TRANSIT DISTRICT
Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of Changes in the District’s Total Health Plan OPEB Liability and Related Ratios
Last 10 Fiscal Years*
2021

Total OPEB Liability
Service cost
Interest
Changes of benefit terms
Differences between expected and actual
experience
Changes of assumptions or other inputs
Benefit payments
Net change in total OPEB Liability
Total OPEB liability - beginning
Total OPEB liability - ending
Covered-employee payroll
Total OPEB liability as a percentage of coveredemployee payroll

$

2020

2019

70,683
19,447
-

45,853
23,597
(13,451)

50,269
19,542
-

45,400
(7,832)
127,698

(44,040)
104,895
(7,152)
109,702

(50,926)
(6,877)
12,008

$

642,935
770,633

533,233
642,935

521,225
533,233

$

4,688,671

4,688,671

3,885,661

16.44%

13.71%

13.72%

* Only three years of information available.
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Notes to Required Supplementary Information
Total OPEB Liability
Changes of Benefit Terms (OPEB) - In fiscal year 2020 the valuation was adjusted to reflect the removal of the
Affordable Care Act’s Cadillac Tax.
Changes of Assumptions (OPEB) - Under the Health Plan - MMEHT, changes of assumptions and other inputs
reflects the changes in the discount rate each period. The following are the discount rates used in each period:
Discount
Rate
2.12%
2.74%
4.10%
3.44%

Fiscal Year
2021
2020
2019
2018
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GREATER PORTLAND TRANSIT DISTRICT
Schedule of Revenues and Expenses - Budget and Actual - Budgetary Basis
For the year ended December 31, 2021
(With Comparative Actual Amounts for the year ended December 31, 2020)
Variance with
final budget
Budgeted amounts
positive
Original
Final
Actual
(negative)
Revenues:
Passenger fares:
Regular fares
Organization paid fares
Total passenger fares
Federal assistance:
Operating assistance
CARES act
ADA paratransit
Western expansion
Preventive maintenance
Total federal assistance
State assistance
Local investment:
Members
Non-members
Total local investment
Miscellaneous:
Regional Transportation Program rent
Fleet maintenance services
Advertising
Interest income
Fuel sales
Autofare reimbursement
Rock Row payment
Miscellaneous income
Total miscellaneous
Total revenues

$

2020

1,757,606
309,396
2,067,002

1,757,606
309,396
2,067,002

1,140,893
244,234
1,385,127

(616,713)
(65,162)
(681,875)

564,588
194,268
758,856

2,639,528
1,486,661
360,000
824,000
914,924
6,225,113

2,639,528
1,486,661
360,000
824,000
914,924
6,225,113

2,424,171
2,039,840
280,383
650,000
944,263
6,338,657

(215,357)
553,179
(79,617)
(174,000)
29,339
113,544

6,038,185
106,726
519,633
612,720
7,277,264

170,426

170,426

207,926

4,016,343
17,500
4,033,843

4,016,343
17,500
4,033,843

3,998,099
33,000
4,031,099

(18,244)
15,500
(2,744)

3,794,350
33,000
3,827,350

28,529
5,675
195,000
20,000
10,000
15,154
8,400
282,758

28,529
5,675
195,000
20,000
10,000
15,154
8,400
282,758

40,228
9,915
194,244
6,109
15,884
10,088
20,120
296,588

11,699
4,240
(756)
(13,891)
5,884
(5,066)
11,720
13,830

41,750
6,776
165,793
14,219
14,449
175,000
13,044
431,031

12,779,142

12,779,142

12,259,397

(519,745)

12,464,927
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37,500

170,426

GREATER PORTLAND TRANSIT DISTRICT
Schedule of Revenues and Expenses - Budget and Actual - Budgetary Basis, Continued
For the year ended December 31, 2021
Variance with
final budget
Budgeted amounts
positive
Original
Final
Actual
(negative)
Expenses:
Personnel:
Regular wages and salaries
Overtime
Benefits
Total personnel
Temporary help

$

5,936,450
524,684
2,779,986
9,241,120
-

5,936,450
524,684
2,779,986
9,241,120
-

5,878,451
345,709
2,720,793
8,944,953

57,999
178,975
59,193
296,167

21,810

(21,810)

2020

5,774,070
453,985
2,460,339
8,688,394
-

ADA paratransit

450,000

450,000

350,479

99,521

290,551

Fuel:
CNG fuel
Diesel fuel
Total fuel

100,000
527,850
627,850

100,000
527,850
627,850

99,606
439,224
538,830

394
88,626
89,020

96,442
431,341
527,783

Dues and subscriptions:
Dues and subscriptions
HRA annual dues
Licenses and permits
Total dues and subscriptions

26,937
7,204
1,430
35,571

26,937
7,204
1,430
35,571

28,439
7,759
576
36,774

(1,502)
(555)
854
(1,203)

24,738
8,571
374
33,683

Other employee costs:
Wellness program
Meals and hosting
Travel, conferences, meetings
Employment services
Total other employee costs

2,500
7,500
13,440
10,725
34,165

2,500
7,500
13,440
10,725
34,165

2,563
5,993
9,976
6,754
25,286

(63)
1,507
3,464
3,971
8,879

1,499
9,506
4,414
7,402
22,821

Fleet parts and services:
Parts
Tires and tubes
Greases and fluids
Total fleet parts and services

287,000
56,000
53,400
396,400

287,000
56,000
53,400
396,400

238,030
66,285
55,298
359,613

48,970
(10,285)
(1,898)
36,787

307,729
46,670
45,134
399,533

Insurance

322,829

322,829

325,138

(2,309)

299,877

Advertising:
Advertising
Fare media
Marketing supplies
Total advertising

57,500
11,000
12,000
80,500

57,500
11,000
12,000
80,500

21,569
5,720
5,816
33,105

35,931
5,280
6,184
47,395

38,727
1,254
7,003
46,984

Office supplies:
Supplies
Postage
Total office supplies

19,500
4,930
24,430

19,500
4,930
24,430

21,496
2,130
23,626

(1,996)
2,800
804

18,868
4,619
23,487
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Schedule of Revenues and Expenses - Budget and Actual - Budgetary Basis, Continued
For the year ended December 31, 2021
Variance with
final budget
Budgeted amounts
positive
Original
Final
Actual
(negative)
Contract services:
Technology services
Legal fees
Audit fees
Other contracted services
Miscellaneous services
Total contract services

$

2020

157,170
33,500
21,000
133,760
3,800
349,230

157,170
33,500
21,000
133,760
3,800
349,230

132,011
75,765
20,500
73,398
4,891
306,565

25,159
(42,265)
500
60,362
(1,091)
42,665

112,031
41,195
20,000
55,525
1,502
230,253

Utilities and telephone:
Heating fuel
Electricity
Water/sewer/storm water
Phone/cell/internet
Total utilities and telephone

158,034
129,686
40,965
69,308
397,993

158,034
129,686
40,965
69,308
397,993

108,119
105,780
32,784
52,878
299,561

49,915
23,906
8,181
16,430
98,432

111,665
102,654
31,137
55,384
300,840

Maintenance costs:
Maintenance services
Copier maintenance
Maintenance supplies
Snow plowing and removal
Total maintenance costs

177,964
5,596
133,500
9,000
326,060

177,964
5,596
133,500
9,000
326,060

142,188
2,862
102,744
247,794

35,776
2,734
30,756
9,000
78,266

123,625
4,997
116,695
1,610
246,927

44,205

44,205

19,645

24,560

11,793

Capital match

106,649

106,649

106,649

-

25,162

Debt service principal

182,500

182,500

182,500

-

436,257

Debt service interest

114,640

114,640

48,994

45,000

45,000

12,779,142

12,779,142

Bank and credit card fees

Fund balance restoration
Total expenditures
Change in net position - budgetary basis

-
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-

-

65,646
45,000

69,395
-

11,871,322

907,820

11,653,740

388,075

388,075

811,187

GREATER PORTLAND TRANSIT DISTRICT
Schedule of Revenues and Expenses - Budget and Actual - Budgetary Basis, Continued
For the year ended December 31, 2021

Budgeted amounts
Original
Final
Reconciliation to GAAP:
Unbudgeted federal and state capital grants
Unbudgeted federal and state operating grants
Unbudgeted capital maintenance expense
Unbudgeted contracted services
Unbudgeted supplies/parts
Unbudgeted local contributions
Unbudgeted operating lease and related costs
Wellness grant
Depreciation expense
Insurance proceeds
Capitalized local match
Principal payment on debt service
Other postemployment benefits expense
Gain (loss) on disposal of capital assets

$

1,071,342
816,570
(5,030)
(871,196)
(425)
(6,099)
(70,169)
3,014
(1,920,972)
14,807
106,649
182,500
(94,817)
(5,455)

Net change in net position - GAAP basis

(391,206)

Net position, beginning of year
Net position, end of year

Actual

15,883,128
$

15,491,922
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON
COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS
To the Board of Directors
Greater Portland Transit District
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the Greater Portland
Transit District, as of and for the year ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes to the financial
statements, which collectively comprise the Greater Portland Transit District’s basic financial
statements, and have issued our report thereon dated April 21, 2022.
Internal Control over Financial Reporting
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Greater Portland
Transit District’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the
financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Greater Portland Transit District’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Greater Portland Transit District’s internal control.
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged
with governance.
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not been identified.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON
COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS, CONTINUED
Compliance and Other Matters
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Greater Portland Transit District's financial
statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have
a direct and material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance
with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an
opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are
required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.
During our audit, we became aware of two matters that are opportunities for strengthening internal
controls and operating efficiency, which we have described in the attached schedule of findings and
questioned costs under “Other Comments”.
Greater Portland Transit District’s Responses to Comments
The Greater Portland Transit District’s responses to the comments identified in our audit are described
in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. The District’s responses were not
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly,
we express no opinion on them.
Purpose of this Report
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

April 21, 2022
South Portland, Maine
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR PROGRAM AND ON
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE
To the Board of Directors
Greater Portland Transit District
Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program
We have audited the Greater Portland Transit District’s compliance with the types of compliance
requirements described in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect
on each of the Greater Portland Transit District’s major federal programs for the year ended December
31, 2021. The Greater Portland Transit District's major federal programs are identified in the summary
of auditor's results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.
Management’s Responsibility
Management is responsible for compliance with federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and
conditions of its federal awards applicable to its federal programs.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the Greater Portland Transit
District’s major federal programs based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred
to above. We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit
requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements,
Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Those standards and
the Uniform Guidance require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a
direct and material effect on a major federal program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence about the Greater Portland Transit District's compliance with those requirements and
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major
federal program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the Greater Portland
Transit District’s compliance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR PROGRAM AND ON
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE, CONTINUED
Opinion on Each Major Federal Program
In our opinion, the Greater Portland Transit District complied, in all material respects, with the types of
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its
major federal programs for the year ended December 31, 2021.
Report on Internal Control over Compliance
Management of the Greater Portland Transit District is responsible for establishing and maintaining
effective internal control over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above.
In planning and performing our audit of compliance, we considered Greater Portland Transit District 's
internal control over compliance with the types of requirements that could have a direct and material
effect on each major federal program to determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on compliance for each major federal program
and to test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over
compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Greater Portland
Transit District’s internal control over compliance.
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their
assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance
requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over
compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such
that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance
requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A
significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies,
in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is
less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit
attention by those charged with governance.
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over
compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However,
material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.
The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of
the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR PROGRAM AND ON
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE, CONTINUED
Report on Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by the Uniform Guidance
We have audited the financial statements of the Greater Portland Transit District as of and for the year
ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively
comprise the Greater Portland Transit District’s basic financial statements. We issued our report thereon
dated April 21, 2022, which contained an unmodified opinion on those financial statements. Our audit
was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the basic financial statements. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards
is presented for the purposes of additional analysis as required by the Uniform Guidance and is not a
required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management
and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to
prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures
applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing
and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to
prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other
additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. In our opinion, the schedule of expenditures of federal awards is fairly stated in all material
respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

April 21, 2022
South Portland, Maine
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Federal Grantor/Pass-through
Grantor/Program Title

GREATER PORTLAND TRANSIT DISTRICT
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
For the year ended December 31, 2021
Federal
PassAssistance
through/
Listing
Agreement
Number
Number

U. S. Department of Transportation:
Direct Programs:
Federal Transit Cluster:
Federal Transit Formula Grants
Federal Transit Formula Grants
Federal Transit Formula Grants
Federal Transit Formula Grants
Federal Transit Formula Grants
Federal Transit Formula Grants
Federal Transit Formula Grants - COVID-19
Federal Transit Formula Grants
Federal Transit Formula Grants
Federal Transit Formula Grants
Total Federal Transit Cluster
Total U. S. Department of Transportation

20.507
20.507
20.507
20.507
20.507
20.526
20.507
20.507
20.507
20.526

ME-2017-007-00
ME-2016-016-00
ME-2016-017-00
ME-2019-001-02
ME-90-X213-01
ME-2019-013-00
ME-2020-010-03
ME-2020-025-01
ME-2021-016-00
ME-2021-002-00

Total
Federal
Expenditures

$

Assistance
Listing/
Cluster
Totals

584
24,379
9,335
650,000
12,324
82,431
2,581,187
801,573
3,036,155
821,526

Passed
Through to
Subrecipients

521,781
8,019,494

8,019,494

Totals

521,781

$
8,019,494
521,781
See accompanying notes to schedule of expenditures of federal awards.
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GREATER PORTLAND TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021
PURPOSE OF THE SCHEDULE
Office of Management and Budget (OMB)’s Uniform Guidance requires a schedule of expenditures of federal
awards showing total expenditures for each federal award program as identified in the Assistance Listings in the
System for Award Management.
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
A.

Reporting Entity - The accompanying schedule includes all federal award programs of the Greater Portland
Transit District for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021. The reporting entity is defined in notes to
financial statements of the Greater Portland Transit District.

B.

Basis of Presentation - The information in the accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards is
presented in accordance with the Uniform Guidance.
1. Pursuant to the Uniform Guidance, federal awards are defined as assistance provided by a federal
agency, either directly or indirectly, in the form of grants, contracts, cooperative agreements, loans,
loan guarantees, property, interest subsidies, insurance or direct appropriations.
2. Major Programs - the Uniform Guidance establishes the level of expenditures or expenses to be used in
defining major federal award programs. Major programs for the Greater Portland Transit District are
identified in the summary of auditor’s results in the schedule of findings and questioned costs.

C.

Basis of Accounting - The information presented in the schedule of expenditures of federal awards is
presented on the accrual basis of accounting, which is consistent with the reporting in the Transit District’s
financial statements.

D.

Indirect Cost Rate - Greater Portland Transit District has elected not to use the 10-percent de minimis
indirect cost rate allowed under the Uniform Guidance.
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GREATER PORTLAND TRANSIT DISTRICT
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
For the year ended December 31, 2021
Section I - Summary of Auditor's Results
Financial Statements
Type of auditor’s report issued on whether the financial
statements audited were prepared in accordance with GAAP:

Unmodified

Internal control over financial reporting:
Material weaknesses identified?
Significant deficiencies identified?

No
None reported

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted?

No

Federal Awards
Internal control over major federal programs:
Material weaknesses identified?
Significant deficiencies identified?

No
None Reported

Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance
for major federal programs:

Unmodified

Any audit findings disclosed that are required
to be reported in accordance with
the Uniform Guidance?

No

Identification of major federal programs:
CFDA Number(s)

Name of Federal Program or Cluster

20.507, 20.526

Federal Transit Cluster

Dollar threshold used to distinguish
between Type A and Type B programs:

$750,000

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?

Yes
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GREATER PORTLAND TRANSIT DISTRICT
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs, Continued

Section II - Findings Required to be Reported Under Government Auditing Standards
None
Retirement Contributions

Other Comments

During our testing of the District’s payroll process, we found two retirement contributions out of twenty-five
selections that did not tie to employee election forms. We also noted one instance where the employer match
was incorrect.
It is crucial that employee payroll elections and employer matches are correctly recognized and accounted for.
In the future, we recommend employees involved in the process be reminded of the need for diligence in
ensuring contributions are correct. We also recommend developing an approval process when changes to
payroll-related elections and employer matches are made.
Management Response: Metro has implemented the use of an employee status change form to facilitate the
communication of employee changes from the Human Resources Department to the Payroll Coordinator. The
form requires approvals from the department head, and the Human Resources Department, along with
documentation of the date the change was processed by payroll. Additionally, Metro has started the process of
electronic record keeping for some portions of the employee files, and will be implementing electronic change
requests in the future. Metro management staff discuss the importance of complete and accurate
documentation with necessary staff frequently, and feel the changes explained above will ensure a more
accurate processing of employee changes.
Journal Entry Review and Approval
During our review of receipt and disbursement transactions related to the Touchpass application, we noted
journal entries during the year that were not were not reviewed or approved. The absence of such a process
increases the risk of fraud or errors.
This issue appears to be the result of having a vacancy in the finance director position and later in the
accounting manager position. In the future, if there are vacancies in these key positions, we recommend that
entries over a certain pre-determined threshold be reviewed and approved by a secondary individual, such as
the general manager.
Management Response: Metro utilizes electronic workflow approval through the Munis financial software for
journal entry approvals. Starting in July 2021, Metro experienced a vacancy in the finance department. During
that time, the accounting manager, who was also the acting finance director, was entering and approving
journal entries as a temporary measure. Metro has since filled the finance director role and the accounting
manager role. All journal entries are reviewed and approved by a secondary staff member. Management is
aware of the risk, and will add a staff member with financial oversight responsibilities outside of the finance
department should a similar situation happen in the future.

9

GREATER PORTLAND TRANSIT DISTRICT
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs, Continued

Section III - Findings and Questioned Costs for Federal Awards
None
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GREATER PORTLAND TRANSIT DISTRICT
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs, Continued

Section IV - Status of Prior Year Findings and Questioned Costs for Federal Awards and Government Auditing
Standards
None
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Item 5 - Attachment C

GREATER PORTLAND TRANSIT DISTRICT
Required Schedule under the Maine Uniform
Accounting and Auditing Practices for
Community Agencies
December 31, 2021

Certified Public Accountants and Business Consultants

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT ON
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF DEPARTMENT AGREEMENTS
To the Board of Directors
Greater Portland Transit District
We have reviewed the special-purpose schedule of expenditures of department agreements of the Greater
Portland Transit District as of December 31, 2021. A review includes primarily applying analytical procedures to
the Greater Portland Transit District’s financial data and making inquiries of management. A review is
substantially less in scope than an audit, the objective of which is the expression of an opinion regarding the
schedule of expenditures of department agreements as a whole. Accordingly, we do not express such an
opinion.
Management’s Responsibility for the Schedule of Expenditures of Department Agreements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the schedule of expenditures of
department agreements in accordance with the provisions of Maine Uniform Accounting and Auditing Practices
for Community Agencies (MAAP); this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the schedule of expenditures of department agreements
that are free from material misstatement whether due to fraud or error.
Accountant’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to conduct the review engagement in accordance with Statements on Standards for
Accounting and Review Services promulgated by the Accounting and Review Services Committee of the AICPA.
Those standards require us to perform procedures to obtain limited assurance as a basis for reporting whether
we are aware of any material modifications that should be made to the schedule of expenditures of department
agreements for it to be in accordance with Maine Uniform Accounting and Auditing Practices for Community
Agencies. We believe that the results of our procedures provide a reasonable basis for our conclusion. We are
required to be independent of the Greater Portland Transit District and to meet our other ethical
responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements related to out review.
Accountant’s Conclusion
Based on our review, we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the accompanying
schedule of expenditures of department agreements in order for it to be in conformity with Maine Uniform
Accounting and Auditing Practices for Community Agencies.

April 21, 2022
South Portland, Maine
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GREATER PORTLAND TRANSIT DISTRICT
Schedule of Expenditures of Department Agreements
For the year ended December 31, 2021

Department
Office:

Agreement
Number

Total
State
Federal
Department
Expenses Expenses
Expenses

DOT Only
DOT Only
Local
Total
Share
Agreement/Match
Expenses
Expenses

Agreement
Amount

Agreement
Period

Agreement
Service

Agreement
Status

170,426

7/1/2020-6/30/2021

Multimodal Transit Account

Final

-

170,426

170,426

-

170,426

37,500

7/1/2021-6/30/2022

Multimodal Transit Account

Final

-

37,500

37,500

-

37,500

205,381

8/28/2020-10/02/2030

Capital

Final

-

205,381

205,381

-

205,381

-

413,307

413,307

-

413,307

Maine Department of Transportation, Direct:
Transportation Systems Planning
Transportation Systems Planning
Transportation Systems Planning

CSN: 41965 (State Funds Only)
State Funds - 022760.20
CSN: 43361 (State Funds Only)
State Funds - 025747.00
CSN: 42075 (State Funds only)
State Funds - 023901.00

$

Totals

$

2

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

AGENDA ITEM 6

DATE
April 28, 2022
SUBJECT
Financial Reserve Policy
PURPOSE
Review Draft Financial Reserve Policy.
BACKGROUND/ANALYSIS
The Board of Directors approved the Financial Reserve Policy on May 24, 2018. The full policy is
included as Attachment A for review. The purpose of the policy is to establish guidelines for
building and maintaining funds for Metro’s financial stability. The current policy goal is set at
16.66% of budgeted expenses, or two months of expenses. The 2022 approved budget amount
is $13,955,620, which would require a reserve of $2.3MM. The current balance of the reserve,
after the fiscal year 2021 is $900K. The Board of Directors and Metro staff are continuing to work
towards achieving the goal of 16.66%.
After reviewing the policy, Metro staff identified the need for additional explanations regarding
the reasoning for the minimum goal levels and the authorized usage of funds. The suggested
revisions to the language in the policy were reviewed at the March 2, 2022 Finance Committee
meeting. Staff is providing a draft of the recommended revisions to the policy for the Finance
Committee’s approval.
FISCAL IMPACT
N/A
RECOMMENDATION
Staff recommend approval of the revisions to the Financial Reserve Policy. The Finance
Committee is scheduled to take action on this item at its April 27, 2022 meeting. Staff and/or
Committee members will update the Board if there any changes recommended by the Finance
Committee.
CONTACT
Shelly Brooks
Finance Director
207-423-5052
sbrooks@gpmetro.org

ATTACHMENTS
Attachment A – Financial Reserve Policy
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Item 6 – Attachment A
GREATER PORTLAND METRO
FINANCIAL RESERVE POLICY

Purpose and Goals of Reserve PURPOSE
The purpose of this policy is to establish guidelines for building and maintaining a financial
reserve that supports the financial stability of Metro.
The equity of Metro, measured as Net Position, is an important indicator of economic stability.
Adequate levels of financial reserve funds contribute to strong creditworthiness, and credit
quality of debt issues, which leads to lower borrowing rates. It is essential that the District
maintain an adequate level of reserved equity funds to mitigate financial risk that can occur from
significant unexpected revenue reductions or expenditures. It is important to protect the
dependability of public transit from these situations, as well as minimizing the fiscal impact to
taxpayers of Metro’s member communities. The reserve also provides cash flow liquidity for
Metro’s general operations.
The minimum financial reserve goal of 16.66% of budgeted expenses will allow Metro the ability
to remain financially stable in the event of unanticipated funding delays and/or decreases, along
with unexpected expenditure increases/additions. These funds will provide a contingency
reserve while determining appropriate strategies for achieving long-term sustainability. In
particular, the reserve is designed to protect service levels and allow time for corrective
strategies to be implemented with the least possible harm to the public.
Additionally, the availability of this level of reserves will allow Metro to reduce the dependency
on short term financing for operating cash flow activities. Once the reserve funding goal is met,
Metro will be in the position to request less short-term borrowing, and in turn, reduce the
associated interest expenses for this borrowing.
Finally, the reserve funding will allow Metro flexibility for funding local share or gaps in funding
amounts for future projects. As unanticipated opportunities or needs for capital spending occur,
Metro will be in the position to quickly act, with the Board of Directors approval, to implement
the projects.
Authorizations for Reserve Fund Use
Usage of reserve funds for permanent expenditures will require the approval of the Metro Board
of Directors. However, Metro staff is authorized to temporarily use funding for cash flow or
capital expenditure purposes that will be replaced at a later date, within the fiscal year. When
such funding is received, Metro staff will replenish the reserve funding for the amount borrowed
in full.
Additionally, Metro staff are authorized to make short-term investments with the reserve funds,
barring there are no planned uses for the funds. Any short-term investments are required to be
1

FDIC insured, secured-low risk investments, such as Certificates of Deposits. Any interest earned
on the invested funds will be added to the reserve funds in an effort to achieve the goal of
16.66%.

DEFINITIONS
Net Position – This represents net worth, defined as the difference between assets (including
deferred outflows of resources) and liabilities (including deferred inflows of resources). Net
Position can be liquid, such as cash, or fixed, such as inventories and net asset value. The
Governmental Accounting Standards Board requires Net Position to be reported in three
components, which are described below.
Net Investment in Capital Assets - value of fixed assets net of accumulated depreciation, reduced
by any outstanding debt issued in acquiring the assets.
Restricted – assets with restrictions on how they are used, or that have an associated liability
which the asset would satisfy. For Metro, this amount represents the local share of matching
funds for federal capital grants that has been collected but not yet expended.
Unrestricted – the remaining amount of Net Position that is not included in Net Investment of
Capital Assets or in the Restricted component. This value is a combination of liquid and fixed
assets. For Metro, there are two categories of Unrestricted:
• Unrestricted, reserved for Board Policy – the amount calculated by this Policy
• Unrestricted, unreserved – remaining balance of unrestricted net position

CONSIDERATIONS
Metro engages in financing activity related to annual cash flow and also occasional capital match
funding. Credit worthiness is evaluated by financing institutions using audited financial
statements, along with reliability of a government’s revenue sources, economic conditions, cash
position, debt ratios, management performance, and fiscal decisions made by the Board of
Directors.
In establishing an appropriate level of financial reserve, Metro considers the following factors.
1. Reliability of operating revenue streams, such as passenger fares, and advertising
revenue, and potential for notable downturns or increases.
2. Reliability of federal funding for operations and potential for impacts from congressional
decisions.
3. Exposure to emergency situations that require large outlays of money and/or inability to
collect revenue, such as a significant storm event or operational disaster.
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4. Ability for member communities to raise assessment tax revenue.
5. Recommendation of the Government Finance Officers Association to maintain reserves
of no less than two months of regular operating revenues or regular general fund
operating expenditures.
6. Potential ability to consistently maintain the Policy level of reserve.

POLICY
In consideration of the above factors, it is the goal of Metro to maintain a minimum financial
reserve of two months (16.66%). Any amount in excess of the minimum may be programmed for
use at the Board’s discretion. In the event that the unassigned fund balance drops below the
minimum level, Metro staff will develop, and the Board will adopt. a plan to bring the balance to
the minimum.
As part of the annual budget process, the Finance Committee will consider the level of reserve
and make a budget recommendation that includes any amount they may consider appropriate
to add for the subsequent year.

OTHER PROVISIONS
The amount reported on the annual financial statements as the Unrestricted, Reserved for Board
Policy, will be supported by the equivalent amount of restricted cash and segregated from
operating cash as managed by staff.

Revised April, 2022
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

AGENDA ITEM 7

DATE
April 28, 2022
SUBJECT
Facility Sub-Lease Agreement with Atlantic Hardwood
PURPOSE
Review key business terms and authorize Executive Director to execute a sub-lease agreement
with Atlantic Hardwood.
BACKGROUND/ANALYSIS
In August 2021, Metro entered into an agreement with the North River Company (NRC) to lease
the facility located at 151 St. John’s Street in Portland. The property is directly adjacent to Metro’s
Operations-Maintenance Facility located at 114 Valley Street. Following an extensive evaluation
process, the Board approved a strategy of working to gain control and ownership of the property
as part of a goal to assemble the two properties and build a replacement/expanded transit facility
that could accommodate 100+ buses.
Following NRC’s purchase of the property in mid-2021, the first phase of this process was to
implement an agreement with NRC to lease the property for a period of 5-10 years. The
agreement also provides options allowing Metro exclusive rights to purchase the property at any
time after the 30th month of the base agreement. Metro staff are in the process of identifying
and securing the $5.2 million in funding necessary to purchase the property at some point
following the 30th month of the lease term with NRC. Staff’s goal is to secure funding and
implement the acquisition between the 30th and 40th months.
Because Metro does not need to use the property in the near-term and requires time to develop
appropriate plans, complete technical specifications, comply with governmental regulatory
requirements, and secure the estimated $20-30 million needed to reconstruct the site, staff has
pursued options to sub-lease the space.
Following a competitive selection process, Metro entered into a contract with the Boulos
Company to manage marketing the property and negotiating lease terms with prospective
tenants.
The key business terms of the proposed sub-lease agreement with Atlantic Hardwood (AH) are
included in Attachment A. The major terms of consequence are outlined with additional
explanations below:

•

Space – the sub-lease allows AH to utilize the entire 31,718 square feet of space.

•

Use – AH’s anticipated uses are consistent with the current zoning and places responsibility
for confirming allowable uses with the City of Portland.

•

Term – The base term is 5 years with 5 one-year options at Metro’s discretion.

•

Base Rent & Annual Escalator – Full base rent will commence on October 1, 2022 and be equal
to $5.50 per square foot. This is lower than current market trends for industrial space, but
was a necessary concession to secure a shorter base lease term. The price per square foot
will increase by 2% per year (not 3% as stated in attachment).

•

Triple Net Expenses – AH will be full responsible for the costs of water, heat and electricity.
AH will be responsible for other facility costs (e.g., real estate taxes, stormwater fees,
property and liability insurance, non-capital building maintenance and repairs, landscaping,
snow plowing, management fee, and HVAC and fire/sprinkler system inspections) at an
amount estimated to be $2.21 per square foot.

Table 1 provides a financial forecast for Metro’s overall expenses, revenue and funding sources
for the years 2021-2027 including the 5-year base lease term with AH.
Table 1: Lease & Sub-Lease Financial Forecast

Column Notes for Table 1:
1. Calendar Year
2. NRC Lease – figures refer to the lease term in months. This forecast assumes that Metro is
successful at identifying and securing funding to purchase the property from NRC by the end
of 2024.
3. Base Lease Expenses – figures represent the base rent due to NRC.
4. Operating Expenses – figures represent the estimated costs and operating expenses
necessary to operate and maintain the property, including taxes, insurance, utilities, etc.
5. Brokerage Fee – figure represents the brokerage fee payable to the Boulos Company upon
execution of sub-lease with Atlantic Hardwood.
6. Total Expense – figures represent the estimated annual sum of all lease related expenses.
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7. AH Lease Months – figures refer to the lease term in months. This forecast assumes that
Metro is successful at identifying and securing funding needed to assemble the properties
and construct an expanded transit facility, and therefore end the sub-lease at 60 months.
8. Sub-Lease – figures represent the annual base rent payable to Metro by AH.
9. Local Funding – In July 2021, the board approved a financial forecast calling for $90-100k per
year to help support Metro’s lease from NRC. The updated forecast indicates this funding will
not be needed beyond 2024 if Metro is successful in purchasing the property. The board
should recognize that the forecast remains an estimate and circumstances may be change
leading to a continued need for local funding support.
10. State Funding – In June 2021, the Maine Department of Transportation approved $1,189,993
spread over 5 years to help support Metro’s lease from NRC. The updated forecast indicates
that only $738,844 will be needed through 2024 if Metro is successful in purchasing the
property in 2024. The board should recognize that the forecast remains an estimate and
circumstances may be change leading to a continued need for state funding support.
11. Total Funding – figures represent the estimated annual sum of revenue and public funding.
12. Surplus/(Deficit) – There is a deficit during the first 2 years of this project (2021, 2022) during
which time Metro is incurring expenses, but a sub-lease is not yet active. Once the sub-lease
activates in late 2022, then there is a projected surplus. Staff recommend that projected
surpluses in fiscal years 2023 and 2024 be used to offset the deficits in 2021 and 2022 and
replenish the agency’s fund balance.
Assuming the property can be purchased in 2024, then the sub-lease revenue alone will
exceed Metro’s expenses creating annual budgetary surpluses starting in 2025. Once there is
greater certainty on net surpluses beginning in 2025, staff will seek board direction to
determine the most advantageous programming.
FISCAL IMPACT
Refer to Table 1 above.
RECOMMENDATION
Authorize the Executive Director to execute a lease agreement with Atlantic Hardwood based
on the key business terms outlined in Attachment A.
CONTACT
Greg Jordan
Executive Director
207-517-3025
gjordan@gpmetro.org
ATTACHMENTS:
Attachment A – Letter of Intent with Atlantic Hardwood
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DocuSign Envelope ID: 4ED2D7E8-C565-4324-9C3A-DD56178CC919

March 25, 2022
Drew Sigfridson
The Boulos Company
One Canal Plaza, 5th Floor
Portland, ME 04101
RE: Letter of Intent to Sublease a portion of 151 St John Street, Portland, Maine
property
Dear Drew:
This Letter of Intent sets forth some of the terms and conditions under which Atlantic
Hardwoods (hereinafter referred to as “SUBTENANT”) is willing to enter into a
sublease agreement with the METRO (hereinafter referred to as “SUBLANDLORD”)
regarding the above-referenced property. The proposed terms and conditions are as
follows:
Property:

151 St John Street
Portland, ME 04101

Space:

The Space includes 31,718 +/- SF (to be confirmed with
exhibit of interior and exterior use) of industrial and office
space together with the fenced outside storage area that is
accessed from D Street and the parking spaces in front of
The Granite Group’s former showroom space (see attached
floor plan highlighting the Space).

SUBTENANT:

Atlantic Hardwoods
1004 Congress Street
Portland, ME 04102
Attn: Jack McInerny

SUBLANDLORD:

Greater Portland Transit District
114 Valley Street
Portland, ME 04102
Attn: Greg Jordan

Use:

SUBTENANT shall use the Space for office, warehousing,
outside storage, and fabrication, and any other lawful uses.
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Subtenant shall be responsible for confirmation of
allowable uses with the City of Portland.
Sublease Term:

Five (5) years from rent commencement date with Five (5),
one (1) year options to renew the sublease which
extensions shall be subject to SUBLANDLORD’s prior
approval.

Sublease
Commencement Date:

April 1, 2022 (Provided sublease agreement is fully
executed and Sublandlord has received and approved
Subtenant’s Certificate of Insurance)

Partial Rent Commencement
Date:
August 1, 2022
Full Rent Commencement
Date:

October 1, 2022

Property Access Date:

Sublease commencement date.

Option to Renew:

SUBTENANT shall have the Option to renew the sublease
for Five (5) successive terms of one (1) year each.
Subtenant shall provide notice of renewal seven (7) months
in advanced. Sublandlord has thirty (30) days to accept or
refuse renewal request.
The Base Rent for the five (5), one (1) year renewals shall
continue to escalate annually by three percent (3%) per
year for each extension term.

Base Rent:

4/1/22-7/31/22:
FREE BASE RENT
8/1/22-9/30/22:
$8,000/Month
10/1/22-9/30/2023: 5.50/SF NNN
Subsequent 3% annual increases at each anniversary of the
rent commencement date

NNN Expenses:

The NNN expenses include the pro-rata cost of real estate
taxes and levies, stormwater fees, property and liability
insurance, non-capital building maintenance and repairs,
municipal water and sewer charges, landscaping, snow
plowing, management fee, and HVAC and fire/sprinkler
system inspections. SUBTENANT shall be responsible for
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the cost of water, heat and electricity to the Space which
shall be separately metered, or shall pay Subtenant’s usage
and utilities rates if not separately metered. The estimated
NNN expenses for 2022 are $2.21/SF.
Security Deposit:

One (1) month’s rent ($14,537.41) will be paid to
SUBLANDLORD on or before Sublease commencement
date. The deposit will be held in a non-interest bearing
account during the term of the sublease.

Maintenance:

SUBLANDLORD, at its sole cost and expense, will be
responsible for repairs or replacement of the roof,
foundation, structural and exterior walls of the building,
and heating and HVAC equipment (HVAC replacement
will be SUBLANDLORD’s responsibility as long as
SUBTENANT has maintained the units properly following
manufacturers maintenance recommendations) provided the
same are not damaged by SUBTENANT or its agents.
SUBTENANT, at its sole cost and expense, shall be
responsible for maintenance and repair of the following:

SUBLANDLORD’s Work:

1.

The interior, non-structural portions of the Space:

2.

All mechanical, electrical, plumbing and other
building and utility systems servicing the Space
(excluding replacement of HVAC equipment as
long as it is maintained properly by SUBTENANT
per manufacturers guidelines) provided that the
systems and equipment are in good condition and
working order at the commencement of the
sublease; and

3.

All other portions of the Space which are not the
responsibility of SUBLANDLORD.

SUBLANDLORD shall deliver the Space to SUBTENANT
with all systems and equipment in good working order at
the Lease Commencement Date and the Space shall be in
compliance with all fire and life safety codes and
regulations. In addition, SUBLANDLORD shall provide a
rent credit of $10,000 for Subtenant to install a 14’ X 14’
insulated drive-in OHD on the D Street side of the building,
subject to Master Landlord’s approval of the work.
SUBTENANT agrees to submit to SUBLANDLORD, in
writing, plans and status of any modifications for
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SUBLANDLORD’s and Master Landlord’s prior review
and approval. SUBLANDLORD’s and Master Landlord’s
approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned,
or delayed. Subtenant is responsible for project
management of any and all modifications to the space.
Signage:

SUBLANDLORD shall permit SUBTENANT at
SUBTENANT’s sole cost and expense to install exterior
wall-mounted signs on the building as permitted by local
building code regulations and applicable deed restrictions,
if any, provided that no signage will be permitted upon the
roof of the Property.

Sublease Agreement:

Upon mutual agreement of the proposed terms and
conditions outlined herein, SUBLANDLORD shall prepare
a draft sublease agreement that incorporates the provisions
contained herein.

Brokerage Commission:

SUBLANDLORD and SUBTENANT agree that
SUBLANDLORD shall be solely responsible for all
brokerage leasing commissions related to SUBTENANT’S
sublease of the Space. The brokerage commission shall be
five percent (5%) of the aggregate net rent for Years 1-5
and five percent (5%) for any sublease extensions or
renewals, if and when exercised by SUBTENANT.
The brokerage commission shall be split 50/50 between
The Boulos Company and The Dunham Group.

Miscellaneous:

The dates in the agreement are all conditioned on the Space
being approved by Greater Portland Metro Board and the
City of Portland for its intended use by SUBTENANT.
This sublease transaction is contingent on SUBTENANT
getting any and all necessary approvals and permits from
the City of Portland to occupy the space.

This Letter of Intent does not constitute a formal and binding agreement. This Letter of
Intent merely reflects the basic terms and conditions upon which the parties would be
willing to enter into negotiations with regard to the sublease of the Space. This
agreement is intended solely as the basis for the preparation of a sublease agreement by
the SUBLANDLORD. Only a fully executed sublease agreement shall constitute a final
and binding agreement between the parties. The terms and conditions set forth in this
Letter of Intent shall be subject to modification, change, or withdrawal without penalty.
Yours Sincerely,
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P. Gregory Hastings, II, SIOR

SIGNATURES ON NEXT PAGE

SEEN AND AGREED TO:
SUBLANDLORD:

SUBTENANT:

METRO

ATLANTIC HARDWOODS

By:

By:

Its:

Executive Director

Its:
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